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An Overview of Facts and Figures.



Sales EUR mill. 977.2 927.3 873.4 750.4 662.3

Growth in sales % 5.4 6.2 16.4 13.3 6.3

Comprehensive income EUR mill. 45.2 60.7 60.9 53.4 43.3

as a % of sales % 4.6 6.6 7.0 7.1 6.5

Employees (annual average) 6,024 5,821 5,328 4,288 3,944

Cash flow from operating activities EUR mill. 118.5 40.5 66.6 76.7 45.2

EBIT EUR mill. 88.6 99.4 102.1 87.4 70.3

as a % of sales % 9.1 10.7 11.7 11.6 10.6

EBITDA EUR mill. 116.5 128.5 129.7 114.7 94.4

as a % of sales % 11.9 13.9 14.9 15.3 14.3

Capital expenditures and investments EUR mill. 66.5 47.4 58.2 38.6 26.7

as a % of cash flow from operating activities % 56.1 117.3 87.4 50.3 59.1

Depreciation EUR mill. 27.9 29.1 27.7 27.3 24.1

R&D expenses EUR mill. 34.5 27.6 24.1 21.7 19.4

as a % of sales % 3.5 3.0 2.8 2.9 2.9

Equity EUR mill. 282.5 297.7 265.5 230.3 191.0

Equity ratio % 42.3 46.6 42.7 45.1 42.8

Earnings per share EUR 4.57 6.15 6.12 5.36 4.33

WILO Group figures

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Western Europe2) 334.6 34.2 261.1 39.4 6.4

Germany 197.3 20.2 157.3 23.8 5.8

Eastern Europe 239.3 24.5 119.8 18.1 18.9

Asia 151.6 15.5 103.3 15.6 10.1

Other regions 54.4 5.6 20.8 3.1 27.2

Total 977.2 100.0 662.3 100.0 10.2

Regional sales development 2004 - 2008

(EUR mill.) 2008 in % 2004 in % CAGR1) %

Heating and air-conditioning 569.2 58.2 414.4 62.6 8.3

Water supply and sewage treatment 381.6 39.1 220.6 33.3 14.7

Other segments 26.4 2.7 27.3 4.1 -0.8

Total 977.2 100.0 662.3 100.0 10.2

Sales development by business segment 2004 - 2008

(EUR mill.) 2008 in % 2004 in % CAGR1) %

1)Compound annual growth rate
2)Not including Germany
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Increasing our majority stake in Mather and Platt Pumps to

over 90 percent not only expedited the integration of our

Indian units into the Group, but signals our clear commitment

to the Indian market and production facilities as the Group’s

focal point for high-performance water supply pumps.

Group capital expenditure climbed 13 percent compared with

the previous year. Most of this served to expand production

capacity and sales offices, as well as to improve productivity.

In research and development, 2008 was the year of innova-

tive high-efficiency and booster pump generations. WILO

product innovations also secure major energy cost savings in

agitators for sewage treatment applications. A revolution in

heating technology is heralded by the GENIAX decentralised

pump system based on miniature pumps on radiators and

manifolds. This technological quantum leap from supply to

demand-driven heating enables up to 20 percent savings in

primary energy.

Alongside this innovative tour de force and yet more capital

spending to further deepen our local market presence, key

internal changes and projects see to it that the financial crisis

and the recession will not lastingly impair the future prospects

and earning power of the WILO Group. The working capital

management project initiated during the year and our anti-

cipatory portfolio management already show a marked

positive effect on debt structure in our 2008 balance sheet.

Publicly funded refurbishment and economic stimulus pack-

ages will remain a strong source of impetus for energy-efficient

products. Notably in times of economic turbulence, the power

and longevity of strong brands come to the fore in quality, inno-

vation and customer reach. 

Capitalising on this at WILO with an optimistic yet realistic take

on what is possible, we will work with our sales and marketing

partners to make 2009 another successful year and rigorously

seize the opportunities it presents.

Dortmund, March 2009

Despite the financial crisis and a sharp cooling of the world

economy, the WILO Group kept up its longstanding growth

trend in 2008 and boosted net sales by 5.4 percent to 

EUR 977 million. Adverse factors included a slowdown in our

Eastern European business in the last third of the year and,

above all, in some cases massive devaluations of currencies

important to our business. Hardest hit were the South

Korean won, the US dollar and the pound sterling. Despite

sharp hikes in raw material prices through into the third

quarter and a major step up in R&D expenditure, we came

close to matching our earnings quality of past years with an

EBIT margin of 9.1 percent. Our high-efficiency heating

pumps delivered another extra-strong surge to total earn-

ings in Germany and neighbouring markets. Energy efficiency

is now catching on worldwide. On a local-currency basis, for

example, our North American business mounted by over 50

percent. We also engineered another above-average year-

on-year increase across all sales regions in our Water and

Sewage segment.

The transformation of WILO AG into a European Company

(SE) marked a milestone in the structural development of the

WILO Group, strengthening our position and the active pro-

file of our operations across Europe.

Blazing the trail

Report of the Management Board
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The high efficiency, innovation, reliability and durability of

our products combined with the WILO quality customer

experience are hallmarks that make our brand stand out in

the global marketplace. The WILO term “high efficiency” 

has achieved the status of a quality seal and a definition of

the highest possible technical standards. 

The cost-effectiveness, long life and dependability of our

pumps and systems are the result of the company’s innova-

tive drive. They are the products of state-of-the-art manu-

facturing processes and technologies, comprehensive fault

analysis and quality tests, as well as a commitment to con-

tinuous improvement in all areas of the company. In response

to a trade journal survey seeking the oldest heating pumps in

Germany still in operation, professionals registered a number

of WILO products still running trouble-free after over 50 years

of service. The German consumer watchdog Stiftung Warentest

has testified to our brand’s high quality and crowned the

WILO high-efficiency pump champion in both energy efficiency

and value for money. Our French subsidiary’s Salmson brand

also enjoys an excellent reputation in its markets, which are

primarily in Southern Europe, as confirmed by a brand study

conducted in France and Italy in 2008. The minimal rate of

customer complaints in all segments attests to the outstand-

ing level of satisfaction we give our customers worldwide.

Quality Customer Experience

In addition to the product quality which is an essential element

of our brand promise, WILO has developed a special Quality

Customer Experience concept: To us, that primarily means

being customer-centric as well as promising to deliver conti-

nuity in everything we do. All our processes are designed with

the customer in mind. When problems arise, our primary concern

is a quick solution. Once that is in place, we seek the cause,

be it in production, the system or the installation. In the process,

we always bear in mind that customer orientation and respect

for our market partners are just as important as our profes-

sional, methodological expertise. 

WILO after-sales service is considered cutting-edge, ready

to provide customer support and answer technical questions

365 days a year in Germany and in a growing number of other

countries. Topping off our after-sales service package are

spare parts and factory repair services designed to keep turn-

around time to an absolute minimum. Strong teams of field

representatives are also available to assist planners, architects,

wholesalers and technicians. Centralised order management

and high-performance logistics ensure prompt order process-

ing as well as rapid shipping of products and spare parts.

Process-oriented customer service organisation

In order to achieve our ambitious goal of providing the very

best service, WILO has developed a process-oriented serv-

ice organisation (POSO), which was first launched in Germany.

Unique in the industry, this system ensures exceptional quality.

It is also being phased in internationally. One example is

Belgium, where customer service was also switched to POSO

in 2008. In the course of this change, technicians were trained

in customer contact while accessibility and processes were

upgraded, and response times shortened considerably.

Customers rated the new service “significantly better” than

that of major competitors. “The quick accessibility and fast

reaction times of the team play a major role here,” says Wim

Daelemans of Van Hoey plumbing in Mechelen, Belgium, to

quote just one example. Service technicians’ ability to call

up technical information about a pump or system and its

history from the central WILO Service Center using a note-

book on-site was also cited by customers as a unique plus.

With the invention of the circulation accelerator, WILO laid the 
cornerstone for modern heating technology as long ago as 1928.

Nothing is as powerful as an idea 
whose time has come.

Victor Hugo (1802-1885), French writer.

Quality and brand strength  

Quality and brand strength
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A total of 25,000 tonnes’ worth of shipments left Unna for

destinations around the world. Twenty trucks each week

headed to Moscow alone, to name just one example. The

relocation from the old Königsborn site to Unna was accom-

plished seamlessly and in record time. Our new logistics

partner van Eupen, which also participated in setting up the

30,000-square-metre logistics centre, ensures that WILO

delivery contracts and quality requirements are fulfilled one

hundred percent.

We listen to our customers 

WILO commissions representative customer satisfaction 

surveys to use as the basis for further improvements. The

results of these surveys are then reviewed in workshops by

the departments concerned, and improvements to products

and services are planned. The findings of the customer sur-

veys have a direct impact on individual budgets: WILO realis-

es the vital importance in terms of quality management of

eliminating weak links as soon as they come to light. 

“Autoquality” to minimise process errors 

With the newly introduced WILO Production System (WPS),

which institutionalises the concept of continuous improve-

ment, the principle of “autoquality” has been in operation

in all our production facilities since 2008. The idea is to set

up the production process in such a stable fashion that only

premium quality leaves each and every work station. Quality

control steps are integrated into work processes and faulty

products removed immediately, so faults are not left until

the final quality inspection. Before introducing autoquality

into a production area, sensible adaptations to work spaces

and processes are discussed with employees in order to ensure

that their station produces top quality. 

The information that emerges during this process is passed

on to the quality managers and used as a basis to further

optimise each work station. The first production lines adapted

for autoquality proved that these preventive measures

resulted in even higher product quality while also increasing

productivity. 

International competence network expanding

An important component of the WILO quality partnership

philosophy is the Competence Team available to plumbing

and HVAC technicians, operators and end customers in

Germany to answer questions over the phone or by e-mail.

Outside Germany, the first Competence Team in France was

set up at Salmson in Paris in 2008. The United Kingdom,

Austria, the Netherlands and Finland are poised to join the

international competence network shortly. Like no other

service in the industry, it reassures customers that they can

always turn to WILO with any questions or problems they

may have. 

Many tradesmen and installers already use the Competence

Team as a backup on the job at construction sites. The hot-

line in Germany handles some 2,000 calls each week. Outside

the regular hotline hours of 7.00 am to 6.00 pm, the emer-

gency service has technicians on standby. 

In addition to these services, the Competence Team also

maintains the knowledge database on the Internet. Every

new question that comes in through the Competence Team

or via the Internet yields useful information which is system-

atically added to this database.

Worldwide order management 

In 2008, we also internationalised WILO order management

which, thanks to the participation of Salmson, is now based

in Dortmund and Paris. All orders that reach us by 3.00 pm

are processed on the same day and can be shipped out the

next morning, meaning most items reach the customer the

following day. 

Efficiency boost in warehousing

In May 2008, WILO moved into a new logistics centre in Unna.

This move was accompanied by the introduction of a new

distribution concept that ensures even higher effectiveness

and performance. During the tender and implementation

phase, we were assisted by the Fraunhofer Institute for Material

Flow and Logistics as scientific consultants. 

Unna is now the logistics hub for all three German and both

French production facilities. The company uses the logistics

centre to warehouse finished products as well as to store raw

materials and components destined for production. In 2008,

over 100,000 shipments, from large orders to parcel and express

deliveries, were handled here. 

WILO has internationalised order
management and Competence
Team to cut delivery time down
to an absolute minimum. 

Members of the WILO Competence Team receive ongoing training and provide
tradespeople and installers with the best technical support whenever they
need it – over the phone or by e-mail. 

The new logistics centre in Unna is the hub
for all our production facilities in Germany
and France. 

Quality and brand strengthQuality and brand strength
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“Wilo Brain” as an education tool

Recent years have seen increasing demand for further educa-

tion and training for plumbing and HVAC professionals cover-

ing a broad range of products and systems – not just those

specific to particular manufacturers –  and incorporating

hands-on examples. To help make inefficient heating and hot

water circulation systems a thing of the past, WILO introduced

the “Wilo Brain” training initiative in 2001. In this concept,

participants bring their expertise to comprehensive system

training, which includes practical installation and maintenance

tips. The focus is on the hydraulic balance of heating systems

and maintaining hygiene in hot water circulation systems. The

chief goal is to teach participants how to optimise the inter-

actions between the pump, pipe system and boiler so that

they can use this knowledge to ensure low-noise, trouble-

free operation and long-term energy efficiency.

“Wilo Brain” has become a firm fixture in professional training.

Several trade associations in Germany have certified this

groundbreaking qualification initiative and recommend attend-

ance to all plumbing and HVAC providers. The ten stationary

“Brain Centres” throughout Germany and the mobile Wilo

Brain seminars boasted a more than 44 percent increase in

attendance in 2008. In the same year, more plumbing and

HVAC system technicians receiving their initial training also

started attending the dialogue-oriented sessions. 

“Made by WILO in . . .”

The spread of globalisation has resulted in the growing impor-

tance of international brands. A brand is an important source

of information and frame of reference for the customer.

Purchasing a WILO pump or system means buying not only

the product but also a pledge of quality and performance. 

Since 2008, all our products carry the label “Made by WILO

in …”. In addition to the information about their country or

region of origin, the products also carry the performance

pledge of a strong, international Group.

Discerning quality assurance for electronics

In the mid-80s, WILO was the first pump manufacturer to

integrate electronics into pumps. In the years that followed,

in-house expertise grew steadily. Today, WILO boasts its 

own electronics competence centre and electronics factory

geared to the Group’s synchronous manufacturing philoso-

phy. Over 145 highly skilled employees at the Dortmund

headquarters develop the electronic components for all WILO

pump factories worldwide. It is doubtless a rare exception for

a manufacturer to send electronic modules even to its Asian

factories from a central location in Germany.

At the facility covering over 1,600 square metres of space,

WILO uses state-of-the-art production technology to manu-

facture such components as frequency converters and control

units. Here, the electronic components are subjected to the

toughest of endurance tests which far exceed the require-

ments of VDE and EU standards. Fully automatic tests are per-

formed on all electronic components that leave our factory to

verify their functionality and reliability under authentic oper-

ating conditions. 

Over 145 highly skilled employees at the
Dortmund WILO headquarters develop the
electronic components for all WILO pumps
worldwide. 

Wilo Brain’s reputation as a superior
general system training tool reaches

beyond the industry. Several trade
associations in Germany have certified

our qualification initiative.

Quality and brand strengthQuality and brand strength
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Minute details in the design of our slotted 
tube make enormous efficiency possible. 

Force is to be 
found in quality.

Friedrich Nietzsche (1844-1900), German philosopher.

WILO high-efficiency pumps were again extremely successful

in 2008. “Wilo-Stratos” and “Wilo-Stratos ECO” continued

their success story in Germany’s neighbouring countries and

the USA – an incentive for the company to extend its high-

efficiency technology to other product areas and develop even

more efficient pumps to increase its technological lead over

the competition.

Wilo-Stratos high-efficiency pumps can now also be used in

wall heaters and geothermal systems. A quantum leap in

development, an increase in motor efficiency, makes the suc-

cessor to the top-rated Stratos ECO even more fuel-efficient.

The next-generation model Wilo-Stratos PICO, to be intro-

duced in mid-2009, allows up to 90 percent electricity savings

compared with constant-speed heating pumps thanks to its

4-watt technology. It therefore clearly exceeds the standards

of energy efficiency class A. A display informs the user of 

current electricity consumption.

Revolution and high-speed bus in heating technology

The decentralised pump system “Geniax”, with miniature

pumps installed directly on heating surfaces and distributors,

opens up a new dimension in comfort and energy efficiency.

“Geniax” was developed to production and market maturity in

2008. The central control unit measures the heat requirement

of each room and activates the pumps only when heat is

required. It represents a revolution in heating technology, one

in which WILO has invested considerable research effort. The

system sets completely new standards of comfort and energy

efficiency, with primary energy savings of up to 20 percent. It

marks a paradigm shift from supply to demand-based heating,

impressively underlining WILO’s technology leadership.

Pump electronics and room controls in the decentralised

system communicate with the “Geniax” server via a new

CAN bus. The “Wilo-CAN” bus is a high-speed bus for

integrating electronically controlled pumps into building

automation systems. With a transmission speed of 125 kBit/s,

it is up to 100 times faster and, with fast signal changes,

more reliable in data transmission than conventional sys-

tems. The network can be set up cost efficiently in-line.

Greater efficiency for all series

“Pump intelligence” is the central requirement for high-effi-

ciency pumps and systems. That is why electronics develop-

ment plays an extremely important role at WILO. EC motor

technology is being used increasingly, ensuring significant

savings in operation. The newly developed drinking water

circulation pump “Wilo-Star-Z Nova” has a power consump-

tion of only 4.5 watts and an electricity bill of less than eight

euros per year: a saving of around 80 percent. The precision

production of the EC motor stators for these pumps has been

completely redesigned with a high degree of automation. 

A further important quality aspect is service life. WILO is the

only manufacturer to equip its pumps with filter discs to pre-

vent dirt deposits in the motor. This effective measure almost

doubles pump life.

Energy efficiency awards

Energy efficiency is the central challenge for WILO. That is why

the company also supported the competition “energy saving

champions 2008” initiated by the German broadcaster ZDF,

the “Climate Seeks Protection” campaign and the Federal

Environment Ministry. WILO was also presented with the

“Energy + Award 2008” in Milan as part of the Europe-wide

project “Energy + Pumps”. 

High efficiency is trumps for heating, 
cooling and air conditioning 
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It was found that significant savings could be made by

installing WILO high-efficiency pumps.” Replacing all the

pumps at Derriford Hospital could save a total of EUR 78,500

a year. This saving had to be offset against the capital outlay

required to purchase the new pumps. Payback periods for

the pumps ranged from four months up to several years, with

savings of up to EUR 6,800 a year available for an outlay of

just EUR 4,700.

Backed by these impressive figures, WILO was handed a 

contract to replace all the hospital’s pumps over a period of

four years. With payback periods of a few months in some

cases, the first pumps were replaced immediately as they

would show a saving in that financial year. Alongside the

major savings on energy costs, further advantages of the

replacement programme are the lower maintenance require-

ments of the new pumps and a reduction in CO2 emissions

by more than 660 tonnes per year.

In hospitals, things have to run as smoothly as possible, not

just the medical departments but also all building systems

and services which have to be available around the clock. The

use of appropriately designed, high-quality pumps in heating,

air conditioning and drinking water systems is key to the

reliable operation of associated processes. Particular demands

are made on failure safety, maintenance periods and the

energy efficiency of the equipment and systems used.

Faced with a mix of ageing, high-maintenance pumps and an

annual electricity bill of more than EUR 1.08 million, Norman

Spiller, maintenance supervisor at Derriford Hospital in Plymouth,

pinpointed a real need for action for the 25-year-old hospital.

The hospital serves the 250,000 inhabitants of the coastal

town of Plymouth in the southwest of England as well as near-

by areas in Devon and Cornwall. Apart from general medicine,

it provides a range of highly specialised services including heart

surgery and cardiology, kidney transplants, neurosurgery and

pancreatic surgery. In addition, Derriford is a teaching hospital

for students at the Peninsula Medical School. More than

48,000 people per week pass through the 1,100-bed hospital.

Complete “pump transplant”

Maintenance supervisor Spiller, responsible for all the hospi-

tal’s building systems and services, commissioned WILO to

survey the hospital’s 480 pumps spread over twelve plant

rooms. Based on the results, recommendations were to be

made for pumps from the WILO high-efficiency range.

“Upon inspection, we found the pumps on site ranged from

20 year-old energy guzzlers down to units that had been

installed only recently,” says Dan Wild from WILO UK. “When

the pumps had been catalogued and new equivalents select-

ed, we compared the energy costs of the old and the new. 

Pump intelligence for Derriford Hospital

Derriford Hospital in Plymouth puts faith
in quality. To guarantee the reliability of
its heating, air conditioning and drinking
water systems, all existing pumps are
being replaced with high-quality WILO
pumps.
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“Keeping the hospital running day-to-day is difficult enough,

but when the opportunity arises to become involved in a

proactive activity like this, backed by BSS and WILO – both of

whom really know their stuff – it’s a great feeling of achieve-

ment.” And Jeremy Tucker, BSS branch manager, adds: “To be

part of a team that can have such a positive outcome for the

local hospital is very rewarding for all the team here at BSS”.

According to Mr. Tucker, BSS work closely with WILO UK and

are convinced of the high quality of WILO products. BSS knew

from the start that the high-efficiency pump range offered a

very real opportunity for Derriford Hospital to reduce its costs

long-term. Despite the cost involved in replacing these pumps,

meaning that all the pumps could not be replaced in one go,

BSS was able to replace pumps and see the cost of these

pumps recouped from energy savings in less than six months.

As well as supplying the new pumps, WILO also trained the

staff at Derriford Hospital in installation and maintenance.

The training was carried out both at the hospital and at the

WILO site in Burton-on-Trent.

The successful project at Derriford Hospital has meanwhile

resulted in a series of further orders in the public sector; all

of them were aimed at reducing energy costs, in some cases

by up to 80 percent. In addition, the project won WILO UK

the Environmental/Energy Saving Award from the British Pump

Manufacturers Association as well as the prestigious “Energy

Efficiency Initiative Award Category” in CORGI Awards 2008

and the Building Services Award 2008 “Product of the Year”.

The project has also been nominated for further accolades

such as a 2009 award for low CO2 emissions and an energy

award from a magazine on maintenance. 

Energy and maintenance costs on the mend

Sixty percent of the pumps in the project are Wilo Stratos

heating circulation pumps, with the remainder made up of

energy-saving IP-E, IL-E und DP-E cold and cooling water

pumps as well as MVIE booster pumps and MHIE water sup-

ply systems. The four-year replacement programme will be

completed in 2009, by which time the entire pump system 

of Derriford Hospital will shine in WILO green.

In addition to the energy savings achieved through the WILO

pumps, choosing a single pump supplier also means simpler

spare parts management. The hospital has negotiated an

agreement with the Plymouth branch of major distributor

BSS to hold stocks of spares and replacement pumps. “Being

able to have such a positive impact on the hospital’s running

costs is great for all of us involved,” says Norman Spiller.

By choosing WILO as sole pump supplier,
Derriford Hospital benefits from high energy
savings as well as simpler spare parts manage-
ment.

Exemplary in environmental protection.
Thanks to WILO high-efficiency pumps,
Derriford Hospital can reduce its CO2 emissions
by more than 660 tonnes per year.
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Meticulous workmanship down to the smallest detail makes
WILO motors among the most dependable on the market.

Small things make perfection, 
but perfection is no small thing.

Sir Frederick Henry Royce (1863-1933), English electrical engineer who installed the first electric street lighting system in Liverpool in 1882; 
with Charles Stuart Rolls, he co-founded Rolls-Royce in 1906.

Under the “high efficiency” banner, WILO also positioned

itself as a full-line supplier for municipal water supply,

sewage disposal and treatment technology in 2008. Energy-

efficient pump drives and agitators provide significant

opportunities for reducing operating costs and CO2 emis-

sions. WILO products are particularly impressive when the

cost of systems and equipment over their entire life cycle is

taken into account.

Sustainable drinking water production

As water resources become scarcer, the productivity of

drinking water wells has to be maintained for as long as

possible through gentle operation and efficient water

pumping. Thanks to “CoolAct” motor technology, WILO

borehole pumps achieve reduced operating temperatures

and high flow rates in small-diameter wells. Compared

with products previously on the market, this technology

improves underwater motor performance by up to 25 per-

cent. Depending on requirements, borehole pump life can

also be extended with the special corrosion and abrasion-

resistant coating “Wilo Ceram”. An advanced Ceram coat-

ing line was put into operation at the Hof plant in 2008. 

Innovation in sewage treatment technology

The new generation of slow-speed submersible mixers

launched in 2008 boasts unprecedented thrust-to-power

ratios and therefore significantly higher energy efficiency. 

The blades of these innovative mixers achieve up to 10 per-

cent higher efficiency than comparable competitor products. 

In a model calculation for the three-blade model “Megaprop

TR 326”, electricity cost savings of more than EUR 100,000

over ten years were determined compared with previous

solutions in a typical sewage treatment application. Depend-

ing on the circulation systems installed, energy savings of 30

percent are realistic with the new generation of mixers.

WILO joined the German Water Partnership (GWP) set up in

April 2008. GWP is a joint initiative by the public and private

sectors in Germany. The aim is to focus the activities and initia-

tives of the German water industry and make German expertise

known around the world. All members make a clear commit-

ment to the topic of energy efficiency.

Greater efficiency in water and sewage technology
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Forty percent of the funding for the projects comes from the

EU structural and cohesion funds, 25 percent from national

funding programmes and 15 percent via bank loans. The

regional water authorities and the local communities are

putting up the rest. The North Slovakian water and sewage

authority, for example, plans to bring the drinking water and

sewage networks in the Horne Kysuce region up to EU stan-

dards with a total investment of EUR 54.3 million.

Peripheral regions to be connected

The densely forested and for the most part thinly populated

region in the north of the country, with roughly 126,000

people living in an area of 935 square kilometres, is bordered

to the west by the Czech Republic and to the east by Poland.

Due to its peripheral location, the region is relatively poor

and has only recently become attractive for tourism due to 

the charming, untouched nature of the Western Carpathians

and the numerous opportunities for winter sports. The large-

scale project to expand the water supply and sewage sys-

tems comprises 183 kilometres of new water pipe, 42 booster

sets and 2,300 new house connections. In addition, 260 kilo-

metres of sewers, 64 pumping stations and 6,950 connec-

tions are to be built and two sewage treatment plants 

are to be modernised. 

Reliability and durability, even under difficult conditions, as

well as ease of maintenance are among the most important

quality requirements that pumps and systems used in munici-

pal water supply and sewage systems have to fulfil.

Based on previous positive experience with WILO pumps and

sewage systems, the North Slovakian water and sewage

authority has again opted for the German pump specialist fol-

lowing a Europe-wide tender process. A contract to this effect

was signed between WILO and the technology supplier of the

construction consortium VHZ-DIS from Brno in the Czech

Republic at the 15th International Trade Fair for Water, Sewage,

Refuse and Recycling (IFAT) 2008 in Munich. The contract 

covers a total of 42 water supply booster sets as well as 64

Wilo EMUPORT pumping stations and 20 type FA sewage pumps.

Major investment in Slovakian infrastructure

The pumps and systems are part of Europe’s biggest single

municipal water project, which has been underway in the

region of Horne Kysuce in the north of the Slovakian Republic

since 2007. Slovakia still requires significant investment to

adapt its economy to the environmental standards of the

European Union. Around two-fifths of its 5.4 million popula-

tion is not connected to the public sewers, and one in four

communities is not supplied with drinking water from public

networks. Water infrastructure projects are therefore right at

the top of the current investment agenda. According to 

government plans, the drinking water and sewage networks 

in Slovakia are to be expanded at a cost of more than EUR 

4 billion by 2015. Sewage treatment facilities are to be pro-

vided for 542 communities with 3.3 million inhabitants by

2010 and in 277 smaller localities each with 2,000 to 10,000

inhabitants in the following five years.

Pump systems for better environmental standards

The drinking water and sewage networks in
the Horne Kysuce region of Slovakia are to
be brought into line with European Union
environmental standards using state-of-
the-art technology such as Wilo EMUPORT
pumping stations.
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Innovative technology for cost-saving operation

The booster sets are each equipped with two to three MVI

booster pumps installed vertically in a concrete shaft, either

flanged directly to the supply line or connected to a bypass

line. Beginning in 2008, they are being installed at central

points in the supply region to ensure adequate water pres-

sure at all house connections in the challenging topography.

The prefabricated Wilo EMUPORT pumping stations are

being installed underground at central collection points in

the sewage network of the Horne Kysuce region. They will

provide drainage for whole communities. By embedding the

entire system in a corrosion-resistant polyethylene tank

(PEHD), the pumping stations are able to function reliably

over long periods even under difficult operating and environ-

mental conditions. In terms of quality, they are the best the

market currently has to offer. In addition to two to three

type-FA submersible sewage pumps, each pumping station

has a solids separation system to ensure the pumps do not

come into contact with solids in the sewage in the pumping

process. The pumping works, designed as double pumping

stations, use the pumps alternately. The sewage passes first

through a distributor tank, from where it is fed to one of the

two solids separation tanks. While filtering and filling of the

collection tank is carried out through the switched-off pump,

the other unit pumps the content of its solids separation

tank into the pressurised pipe.

The switchover from one pump to the other takes place when

the collection tank is empty. When either of the two pumps is

being serviced – which can also be carried out without contact

with the medium – the system remains fully operational.

Another advantage is the saving of energy because, due to the

solids separation, the pumps have a smaller spherical passage

and are driven at high efficiency by relatively small motors con-

suming less electricity. Pumping stations with solids separation

are ideal for the project because of the difficult hilly landscape,

which makes pressure sewer systems necessary.

WILO is also supplying energy-efficient FA pumps to modernise

two sewage treatment plants in the region. These will transport

the sewage from the inlet station to the processing basins and

pump it between the basins.

As a result of these infrastructure measures by the North

Slovakian water and sewage authority, many people in the

Horne Kysuce region will finally have a drinking water supply

and a sewer connection by the end of the decade at the lat-

est. At the same time, the measures will make an important

contribution to European environmental protection, since

significantly less sewage will be discharged into the region’s

streams and rivers in the future.

Thanks to enclosure in a corrosion-resistant
polyethylene tank, Wilo EMUPORT pumping
stations work reliably over long periods even
under adverse operating and environmental
conditions.
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Electronic systems made by WILO are key components of 
cutting-edge “pump intelligence”.

Quality is never an accident; 
it is always the result of  intelligent effort.

John Ruskin (1819-1900), English art critic, social economist and reformer.

Reducing operating costs is one of the top requirements in

industry. WILO expanded its range of energy-saving pumps

and systems for this sector in 2008.

Saving with frequency converters

With new high-pressure centrifugal pumps in the “Wilo-

Multivert MVIE” series, the most powerful pumps MVIE 70

and 95 are now also available with electronic controls. The

complete range includes pumps for water supply and booster

duty, industrial applications as well as washing and sprinkling

systems. Thanks to electronic speed control, the largest

models in the series can now offer particularly energy-

efficient demand-matched operation. Integrated air-cooled

frequency converters allow infinitely variable adjustment to

performance requirements. 

New technologies for enhanced efficiency levels

The new high-pressure centrifugal pump “Helix” boasting

highly efficient hydraulics and a new motor technology was

developed in 2008 for drinking and fire-fighting water sup-

ply, cooling systems and industrial water circuits. Life cycle

costs are significantly reduced thanks to improved overall

efficiency and lower power consumption. The hydraulic

components, made by laser welding, permit the build-up 

of higher specific pressure with fewer pump stages. At 

the same time, flow losses are minimised by an optimised

pump case. A new controller combined with a likewise 

new pressure sensor permits extremely precise control.

Product of the year 2008

The “CC-Booster” switchgear launched on the market by

WILO for the control of booster sets was awarded the title

Product of the Year 2008 at the “Building Services Awards” in

London. With the CC-Booster, up to six individual pumps in a

booster set can be controlled completely automatically. The

centrepiece is a controller specially programmed by WILO

which influences the speed of the base-load pump via a fre-

quency converter and automatically switches on additional

peak-load pumps when required. As a result, the pumps pro-

vide very quiet, energy-efficient operation.

Use at Kourou spaceport

Based on the high quality and reliability of its innovative booster

sets, the French subsidiary Salmson was selected in 2008 as a

supplier for drinking water pumps and fire-fighting systems

for the Soyuz project at the European spaceport in Kourou,

French Guiana. 

Energy-saving systems for industry
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New water treatment concept

Following expansion of the hot strip mill and an associated

increase in production, the burden on the mill scale water

circuit increased sharply (from 8,000 to 11,000 cubic metres

per hour). This meant two separate circuits were necessary.

Based on previous excellent experience with a WILO sub-

mersible motor pump, Salzgitter Flachstahl decided to equip

the new mill scale water circuit B with WILO pumps. The pre-

viously supplied FA 30 pump with a 340-kilowatt motor and a

capacity of 1,800 cubic metres per hour at 45 metre water

column replaced one of eight long-shaft and submersible motor

pumps operating in the mill scale water basin. The high metallic

solids content of the water and the large capacities to be 

handled necessitated a wear-protected design and a special

hydraulic system. Whereas the other standard pumps installed

there had to be removed and repaired every three to four

months, the highly wear-resistant FA 30 was able to remain in

the shaft for over a year. Compared with the long-shaft

pumps, which it took three fitters around a week to remove

and reinstall, the replacement of the submersible motor pump

was completed by two men in two days. Long service life in

continuous operation and ease of replacement were enough to

convince the managers in the maintenance and construction

department of Salzgitter Flachstahl as well as the engineering

company PSE Engineering GmbH which planned the mill scale

water separation project. 

Case study – Commercial and industrial applications

Very high demands are made on the operational reliability of

pumps in industrial production facilities. An unscheduled out-

age not only causes high costs but can also in some cases

even bring the entire production process to a standstill. That is

why only the highest quality systems and assemblies are used.

At Salzgitter Flachstahl GmbH, the quality of WILO pumps

even beat off competition from long-established steel indus-

try suppliers.

Salzgitter Flachstahl is the largest steel subsidiary of the

Salzgitter Group, one of Europe’s leading steel companies.

The almost 4,800 employees of Salzgitter Flachstahl GmbH

produce around 4.6 million tonnes of steel per year, generat-

ing sales of EUR 2.4 billion. The company’s flat steel prod-

ucts are sold to automobile industries and suppliers as well 

as tube producers, re-rollers and the construction industry.

Hot band, narrow strip, plate, cold-rolled sheet and coated

products are produced in an integrated iron and steel mill.

The company is investing extensively in new equipment to

improve and modernise its processes and ensure it can meet

quality demands in the future.

The highly wear-resistant Wilo-EMU FA 30
copes effortlessly even with the high metallic

solids content of the mill scale water. 

Quality pumps for steel production

To go on meeting exacting quality demands in
the future, Salzgitter Flachstahl invested
among other things in a new mill scale circuit
featuring a highly wear-resistant WILO pump.



2928 Case study – Commercial and industrial applicationsCase study – Commercial and industrial applications

Quality pumps for circuit B

For phase one of the project, which involved the construction

of a second mill scale water basin for circuit B, WILO supplied

not just six 285-kilowatt submersible motor pumps of type 

FA 30 as mill scale water pumps, but also five FA 15 pumps with

62-kilowatt motor output as filter sludge pumps. As these

pumps are subject to high mechanical stresses, all parts in con-

tact with the medium such as housings and impellers were

made from the high-alloyed chilled cast iron Abrasit. This spe-

cial material has a martensitic microstructure with a high con-

tent of chromium mixed carbides, which ensures particularly

high wear resistance. Laboratory tests have shown that Abrasit

lasts seven times longer than normal cast irons when pumping

abrasive media. As a result, maintenance intervals can be

extended and the risk of failure reduced. The supply also

included four 78-kilowatt submersible motor pumps of type

FA 15 which pump clean water into the mill to cool the

rolling mill roller tables, three 260-kilowatt ring section pumps

to remove mill scale from the rolled material, and two 55-kilo-

watt standard pumps as rinsing water pumps. Availability in a

500-hour test after commissioning was 100 percent, higher

than the specified level of 99.5 percent. Due to the high

quality of the pumps, there were no unscheduled pump-

related outages in the time after this, nor did the hydraulic

systems show any signs of wear despite the challenging

operating conditions. This encouraged the client and the

planners to entrust WILO with the supply of heavy-duty

pumps for phase two of the mill scale water circuit mod-

ernisation project that began in 2008.

All wetted parts of the Wilo-EMU FA 15 
filter sludge pumps are made of the high-
alloyed chilled cast iron Abrasit for maxi-

mum pump life and minimum risk of failure.

Trouble-free slurry pumping 

The new circuit A, which will be available to the rolling mill

water treatment department from April 2009, will feature

four abrasion-protected submersible motor pumps of 

type 15 with a design rating of 54 kilowatts, seven 6.5-kilo-

watt FA 10 units and two 2.2-kilowatt FA 05 pumps. The

wear-resistant pumps will provide drainage of the up to 20

deep-bed filters and transport rinsed-off mill scale slurry to

the settlement basin. Floating on the surface of the settle-

ment basin will be two pontoons supplied by WILO, each

featuring three FA 10 pumps. The water, cleaned by

settlement of the mill scale to the bottom of the

basin, will be recycled by the pumps to the

steel mill cooling process. The two FA 05

pumps will be used for building

drainage.

Ever since this trouble-free appli-

cation with mill scale water at 

the Salzgitter hot strip mill,

equipment planners and main-

tenance specialists in the steel

industry have also come to

appreciate the high quality

standards of WILO pump tech-

nology, which guarantee high

operating reliability and long

service life even with media con-

taining extremely abrasive solids. 
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According to German Federal Statistical Office calculations of

January 2009, Germany’s real GDP growth was down to a

mere 1.3 percent in 2008. This means the German economy

performed significantly less strongly than in the two preced-

ing years, with the only major impetus in 2008 coming from

the domestic front. On Federal Statistical Office estimates,

the largest contribution to economic growth took the form of 

a 6.1 percent increase in gross fixed capital formation, con-

sisting of gross fixed capital formation in machinery and

equipment and in construction. The balance of exports and

imports, on the other hand – the most powerful growth driv-

er in recent years – dipped by 0.3 percentage points. Growth

in German exports dropped back to 3.9 percent, compared

with 7.5 percent in 2007.

Key industries for the WILO Group, including construction and

building services engineering, grew more rapidly in Germany in

2008 than previously forecasted. The ifo Institute estimated the

rise in real construction investment for 2008 at 3.7 percent.

Much of this increase was concentrated in non-residential con-

struction, which took a very dynamic turn in 2008 with expect-

ed growth of 8.2 percent. Local authorities were financially in a

position to tackle building and refurbishment works. This trend

will hold up for the medium term, helped along by stimulus

packages adopted by the German government. Construction

order books nonetheless depleted significantly in the second

half of 2008, and short to medium-run expectations were low-

ered in the face of the general economic trend and a continued

worsening in borrowing terms. Public construction spending

was up 3.7 percent on the previous year. Residential construc-

tion, in contrast, showed only a moderate trend in real spending

with a 1.2 percent gain in 2008. 

The main factor at play here was the heightened risk of

unemployment – set to remain a threat for the medium 

term – in the wake of the general economic downturn, 

along with further deterioration in borrowing terms for 

private households.

The Association of the German Sanitary Industry estimates that

German building services engineering, which includes the

plumbing, heating, air conditioning and ventilation segments,

recorded up to 2.0 percent sales growth in 2008. This increase is

mainly due to a nearly 10 percent rise in export output. Domestic

sales stayed almost on a par with the previous year.

Business developments at WILO

Despite the general downturn and severe deterioration in the

economic environment, we sustained our growth trend in

2008 with a 5.4 percent boost in net sales. This sales growth

is entirely organic.

As in the years before, the strongest relative sales gain of 

8.0 percent was achieved in Eastern Europe. Net sales in this

region rose by EUR 17.6 million although, as in other regions,

the growth levelled off compared with past years as a result

of the financial crisis. In Western Europe, we achieved satis-

factory growth of 4.5 percent despite the boiler market per-

sistently failing to gather steam. In Asia, very strong market

growth made up for a sharp adverse trend in the South Korean

won and enabled us to secure a slight gain in net sales as

measured in euros.

Group structure

WILO is one of the world’s leading manufacturers of pumps

and pump systems for heating, ventilation and air condition-

ing, water supply, sewage disposal and wastewater treat-

ment. The company was established in 1872 as Kupfer- und

Messingwarenfabrik Louis Opländer Maschinenbau.

In accordance with the transformation plan of 10 March 2008

and as approved at the shareholders’ meeting of 26 June 2008,

WILO AG was transformed in 2008 into a European Company

(Societas Europaea, or SE). The transformation entered into

effect on recording in the commercial register at Dortmund

local court on 24 July 2008. The name of the company was

changed from WILO AG to WILO SE. Transformation into a

European Company is the logical next chapter in the inter-

national corporate success story of the WILO Group. This mod-

ern corporate form is better suited to the WILO Group’s global

focus as well as to fostering an open and international corpo-

rate culture. The transformation resulted neither in the disso-

lution of WILO AG nor in the creation of a new legal entity.

WILO SE being identical with WILO AG, the organisational

structure, management structure and shareholders’ owner-

ship remain unchanged. WILO SE has its registered office in

Dortmund, Germany, and is the parent company of the WILO

Group. On 31 December 2008, this comprised WILO SE plus

62 consolidated production and sales companies operating

out of 42 countries in Europe, North America, South America

and Asia.

WILO SE increased its majority shareholding in Indian sub-

sidiary Mather and Platt Pumps Ltd. from 62.8 to 90.2 percent 

in 2008 in a delisting offer on Mumbai Stock Exchange and

Pune Stock Exchange. Mather and Platt Pumps Ltd. was

delisted in Mumbai on 3 February and in Pune on 7 February

2009. The purchase of additional shares and the consequent

delisting serves to boost the WILO Group’s long-term busi-

ness activities and operating flexibility in India.

Economic environment

The world economic climate darkened significantly in 2008.

Leading German economic research institutes estimate glob-

al economic growth for 2008 at only 2.4 to 2.5 percent. The

severe crisis on international financial markets sparked by the

collapse of the US subprime mortgage market in 2007 has

since spread to all sectors and regions of the world economy.

Borrowing terms for businesses and private households have

substantially worsened while shrinking assets and dwindling

prospects of returns dampen expectations. The sole relief is a

recent steep drop in the oil price, among other things permit-

ting central banks to cut base rates.

In light of the general downturn and the fraught economic

environment, researchers at Germany’s ifo Institute in their

December 2008 forecast lowered their 2008 economic growth

forecast for industrial countries to only 1.2 percent. This

also matches GDP growth across the EU. For the USA, the

ifo Institute still expects a final growth figure for 2008 of

1.4 percent.

Emerging economies are thought to have developed more

moderately in 2008 than previously forecasted. The ifo 

Institute projects real GDP growth of 6.4 percent for 

emerging economies in 2008. As before, this is mostly 

driven by economic growth in China of 9.4 percent, in 

India of 7.0 percent and in Russia of 6.3 percent.



At EUR 68.2 million, net sales in Korea showed a 14.2 percent

fall in 2008 compared with the previous year, whereas net sales

as measured in local currency increased by 9.0 percent. The

decrease in sales as expressed in euros reflects a 26.8 percent

average drop in the South Korean won against the euro over

the year.In Germany, our most important individual market,

marketing successes with energy-efficient heating pumps led

to 8.8 percent growth in net sales to EUR 197.3 million. Our

second most important market, France, saw similarly strong

growth of 7.3 percent to EUR 112.5 million.

The performance of our business segments reflects global mar-

ket trends. While net sales in the Heating and Air Conditioning

segment rose by 4.3 percent, the Water and Sewage segment

returned stronger sales growth than the WILO Group as a whole

with an increase of 6.8 percent.

Results of operations

We were unable to repeat the previous year’s strong earn-

ings performance, with EBIT down by 10.9 percent in 2008 

to EUR 88.6 million. As expected, the ratio of EBIT to net

sales decreased compared with the previous year, from 10.7

percent to 9.1 percent.

The reduction in EBIT and the EBIT margin was partly down 

to higher oil prices. Primarily, however, substantially higher

costs of developing new products and markets resulted in a

disproportionately strong rise in selling expenses, adminis-

trative expenses and research and development costs.

Falling exchange rates on foreign currencies important to the

WILO Group also negatively impacted on EBIT and consolidated

net income, as substantial foreign-currency business is trans-

acted in US dollars, South Korean won and pounds sterling.

While the euro gained 6.9 percent on the US dollar, it climbed

by an average of 26.8 percent against the South Korean won

over the year. The remaining key foreign currency, the pound

sterling, devalued by 17.0 percent.

Consolidated net income after taxes decreased by 25.5 percent

compared with the previous year to EUR 45.2 million. This cor-

responds to 4.6 percent of net sales (2007: 6.6 percent). The

main factor in consolidated net income falling more steeply

than EBIT is a EUR 22.0 million deterioration in net financial

income. It was necessary to take a charge against net financial

income in 2008 for a EUR 17.6 million negative change (2007:

EUR 0.1 million positive change) in the fair value of copper

derivatives used to counter price changes on copper sourced by

the WILO Group. The fair value of the copper derivatives was

negative following a steep drop in copper prices in the fourth

quarter of 2008. This had a corresponding effect on consolidat-

ed net income after taxes and hence on earnings per share,

which declined a substantial 25.7 percent compared with the

previous year to EUR 4.57.
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Financial position

The WILO Group’s total assets have grown 4.5 percent since

31 December 2007 to EUR 668.1 million. Both non-current

and current assets increased – non-current assets by 7.6

percent to EUR 251.6 million and current assets by 2.7 percent

to EUR 416.5 million. Most of the growth in non-current assets

is accounted for by an extra EUR 18.1 million in property,

plant and equipment compared with 31 December 2007. This

reflects significantly stronger capital expenditure on pro-

duction plant and the expansion of existing sales offices.

Despite 5.4 percent higher net sales, inventories decreased by

4.3 percent to EUR 147.1 million and current trade accounts

receivable by 1.0 percent to EUR 197.8 million. These reduc-

tions are partly a result of steps initiated in 2008 to improve

working capital performance across the entire WILO Group. In

total, the WILO Group’s net current assets shrunk by 6.9 per-

cent from 31 December 2007.

Much of the growth in other current assets corresponds to a

EUR 20.2 million rise in cash and cash equivalents since the

previous year’s reporting date to EUR 45.5 million. This increase

despite a larger dividend payout and higher capital expen-

diture compared with the previous year is a result of rigor-

ous efforts to improve working capital performance in the

WILO Group following a EUR 25.0 million notes issue.

Equity decreased by 5.1 percent to EUR 282.5 million. The

equity ratio fell to 42.3 percent of total assets (2007: 46.6

percent). Both of these outcomes are due to the 25.5 per-

cent drop on the previous year in consolidated net income

after taxes to EUR 45.2 million and to the larger dividend

distribution. The EUR 23.8 million rise in non-current lia-

bilities to EUR 170.2 million mainly relates to the EUR 25.0

million notes issue.

Capital expenditure 

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets increased by 12.7 percent compared with

2007 to EUR 52.3 million. The focus of capital expenditure

was on boosting production capacity and productivity as

well as on the expansion of existing sales offices.

2008 2007 Change

EBIT (EUR million) 88.6 99.4 -10.9%

EBIT (% of net sales) 9.1% 10.7% -15.0%

Earnings per share (EUR) 4.57 6.15 -25.7%

Development of earnings

EUR million 2008 % 2007 %

Non-current assets 251.6 37.7% 233.9 36.6%

Inventories 147.1 22.0% 153.7 24.0%

Current trade accounts 
receivable 197.8 29.6% 199.8 31.3%

Current assets other than inven- 
tories and trade accounts payable 71.6 10.7% 51.9 8.1%

Total assets 668.1 100.0% 639.3 100.0%

Assets as at 31 December

EUR million 2008 % 2007 %

Equity 282.5 42.3% 297.7 46.6%

Non-current liabilities 170.2 25.5% 146.4 22.9%

Current trade accounts  
payable 66.7 10.0% 59.4 9.3%

Current liabilities other than  
trade accounts payable 148.7 22.2% 135.8 21.2%

Total liabilities 668.1 100.0% 639.3 100.0%

Liabilities as at 31 December

EUR million 2008 2007 Change

Western Europe 531.9 508.9 4.5%

Eastern Europe 239.3 221.7 8.0%

Asia 151.6 149.0 1.7%

Other regions 54.4 47.7 14.0%

Total 977.2 927.3 5.4%

Regional development of net sales

EUR million 2008 2007 Change

Capital expenditure on property.
plant and equipment 49.8 43.0 15.8%

Capital expenditure on  
intangible assets 2.5 3.4 -26.2%

Total 52.3 46.4 12.7%

As a percentage of depreciation and  
amortisation on property. plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 187.5% 171.3%

Capital expenditure (excluding financial assets and goodwill)
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Cash flow

Net cash provided by operating activities swelled consider-

ably in 2008 compared with the previous year, increasing by

EUR 78.0 million to EUR 118.5 million. The main cause of this

growth is the reduction in inventories and trade accounts

receivable combined with an increase in liabilities and provi-

sions from operating activities.

Net cash used in investing activities rose in 2008 by EUR 20.6

million or 48.2 percent to EUR 63.3 million. Firstly, we increased

our shareholding in Indian subsidiary Mather and Platt Pumps

Ltd. from 62.8 percent to 90.2 percent for a purchase price of

EUR 10.5 million including acquisition-related costs. Secondly,

we increased capital expenditure on property, plant and equip-

ment and intangible assets by EUR 5.9 million compared with

the previous year; the focus of this capital expenditure was

on boosting production capacity and productivity as well as

on enhancing our sales infrastructure.

The EUR 32.7 million net cash used in financing activities (2007:

EUR 34.0 million) is mostly accounted for by cash outflows of

EUR 38.1 million for the dividend distribution to WILO SE share-

holders and EUR 14.1 million for repayments of short-term and

long-term borrowings, and a cash inflow of EUR 25.0 million

from a long-term notes issue. Detailed information on the

financing structure of the WILO Group is provided in Notes 9.9

and 9.10 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Excluding the effects of exchange rate changes, cash and

cash equivalents increased by EUR 22.5 million to EUR 45.5

million. Including the effects of exchange rate changes, the

increase was EUR 20.2 million.

Financial management

The objectives of financial management are geared to uphold-

ing the financial independence of the WILO Group and main-

taining a strong cash position at all times. To this end, WILO SE

ensures that adequate binding long and short-term finance

commitments are available from banks and has long operated

active portfolio management with regard to the procurement

and maturity structure of borrowings, with financing policy 

sustaining a balanced focus between return-related and

security-related targets.

The WILO Group had EUR 103.1 million in liabilities due to

banks at 31 December 2008 (2007: EUR 89.6 million). These

liabilities relate in part to EUR 56.6 million (USD 80.0 million) 

in senior notes issued in a US private placement in 2006. The

issue consists of two tranches maturing in 2013 and 2016 

and subject to fixed annual interest of 5.28 and 5.33 percent.

Currency risk on the notes is covered by the use of derivative

financial instruments. In 2008, WILO SE additionally launched 

a further EUR 25.0 million notes issue maturing in 2015,

repayable in instalments from 2009 and subject to 5.54 per-

cent fixed annual interest. WILO SE currently expects that the

two tranches of senior notes will be repaid on maturity from

budgeted operating cash flow. WILO SE is not able to state

whether the subprime crisis in the USA and its consequences

for the global banking and financial sector will have any mate-

rial negative impact on the WILO Group’s financing activities.

37

EUR 19.5 million in current liabilities due to banks and

under issued notes were due in less than one year at 31

December 2008 (2007: EUR 26.7 million). The remaining 

EUR 2.0 million (2007: EUR 8.5 million) in liabilities due 

to banks are due between one and five years. Further 

information on the Group’s financing structure is provided 

in Notes 9.9 and 9.10 of the notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

Research and development

Conserving natural resources is a prime aim of our research

and development policy. This aim guides our development of

energy-efficient products for the markets and applications

we serve.

A major focus in the Heating and Air Conditioning segment in

2008 consisted in extending and refining our high-efficiency

STRATOS pump range. A finely graded choice of pumps in

this range is now available for use in boilers and geothermal

installations.

Alongside the ongoing development of high-efficiency

products, we dedicated considerable effort to completing 

our trailblazing decentralised pump system. A series of hugely

successful large-scale field trials is currently in progress in 

a wide spectrum of different buildings. One of our beacon

projects in the field trials for the decentralised pump system

is the new Association of German Engineers (VDI) building at

Airport City Düsseldorf.

The decentralised pump system, which delivers major sav-

ings of heating fuel and enhancements in the use of heating

systems, will be marketed under the GENIAX brand name

from spring 2009.

We invested heavily in connection with our vertical multi-

stage stainless steel pump products in 2008 to push forward

key advances in production technology. We are now at the

forefront in production technology for stainless steel pumps

as well as in the development of the products themselves.

In the Water and Sewage segment, we developed a new

series of slow-rotation agitators with diameters of up to

2.60 metres. The agitators are notable for their innovative

new blades that deliver up to a 10 percent efficiency gain 

on conventional rivals. This can significantly cut energy

costs in sewage treatment plants.

2008 was also a year of systematic research and invest-

ment in development methods and tools. Among other

things, a virtual reality environment was set up for fluid

dynamics and structural mechanics simulations.

Total research and development costs in the WILO Group

increased by 25.0 percent compared with the previous year 

and corresponded to 3.5 percent of net sales.

2008 2007 Change

EUR million 34.5 27.6 25.0%

% of net sales 3.5 3.0 16.7%

Research and development costs

EUR million 2008 2007 Change

Net cash provided by 
operating activities 118.5 40.5 78.0

Net cash used in investing    
activities (63.3) (42.7) (20.6)

Net cash used in financing     
activities (32.7) (34.0) 1.3

Change in cash and 
cash equivalents 22.5 (36.2) 58.7

Cash flow
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Employees

The WILO Group’s global workforce averaged 6,024 employees

in 2008. This represents an increase of 3.5 percent on the pre-

vious year. The Group thus expanded its workforce in response

to regionally varying growth in demand. 

Average employee numbers for the year were as follows:

Certification and approvals

The ISO 9001:2000 and ISO 14001 quality and environmental

certifications awarded in previous years remain in place for all

production locations in the WILO Group.

The WILO Group secured further product-specific certifi-

cation in 2008 in the form of UL certification for the North

American market.

Risk report

A modern, integrated, global risk management system enables

the WILO Group to identify business risk at an early stage and

take prompt and effective mitigating action. Monitoring con-

sistent implementation of action taken is an integral part of

the system. Once identified, risks are assessed, where possible

controlled, and monitored. The internal audit function is strongly

involved in the process chain.

Risk management at WILO generally follows a decentralised

approach. The corporate control function supports second-

tier managers with responsibility for risk documentation and

reporting. Checklists and uniform risk classification are used

for risk assessment and to ensure procedural comparability.

Software in line with Group needs provides a communication

and information platform.

Identified risks are assigned a probability and potential impact.

The basic aim of risk management is to keep the WILO Group’s

overall risk exposure transparent and within acceptable limits.

The results of risk analysis are reported to the Management

Board on a regular basis. The Supervisory Board and the Audit

Committee it appoints are kept fully informed regarding the

status and development of the risk management system.

Risks and risk mitigation

Overall economic environment

WILO faces economic and market risk due to general eco-

nomic, political and societal trends. Forecasts by reputable 

economic research institutes, the World Bank and the Inter-

national Monetary Fund project a deep global recession 

for the world economy in 2009. This strong general down-

turn and the severe deterioration in the economic climate

are subject to close observation and analysis by the WILO

Group, which takes appropriate action as needed to safe-

guard its current economic and financial situation. Among

other things, this involves keeping a very close watch on

country risk so that timely countermeasures can be adopted 

if necessary. Despite the economic crisis, for example, some

large Asian and Eastern European markets present strong

opportunities which nonetheless go hand in hand with

heightened risk. We have considerably reduced the potential

risks in this regard by adopting organisational changes,

expanding and optimising the utilisation of local production

capacity, and exploiting synergies across the entire WILO Group.
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Competition

Competition risk remains on a par with the previous year. Risk is

posed by intensifying price competition on major projects. We

mitigate this risk by making increased use of product lines

with unique selling points. We also highlight our technologi-

cal lead over competitors, notably with regard to energy effi-

ciency, our outstanding product quality and our extensive

service network.

As in the previous year, the strong euro has put us at a dis-

advantage in some regions over competitors who produce

mostly in the USA or in countries with currencies pegged to

the US dollar.

Production and technology

Value creation and technology risk are largely manageable

due to high barriers to entry and WILO’s market position.

WILO invests continuously to strengthen its market position 

in developing new products and in growing markets so it 

can continue to meet customer needs and secure competi-

tive advantages. WILO invested 3.5 percent of consolidated

net sales in research and development in the year under

review. Quality risk is mitigated by an integrated quality 

management system based on uniform quality standards at

WILO production locations.

The risk of production stoppages is significantly reduced 

by the use of modern production plant and professional

control systems. Supply bottlenecks are mainly prevented 

by ensuring the availability of second-source suppliers.

Insurance is also taken out to offset financial impacts of

business risks of this kind.

Exchange rates

Our international presence makes it important to manage

currency exposures. We face currency risk primarily in our

financing and operating activities. Currency risk in financing

activities mostly relates to foreign-currency borrowing from

external lenders and foreign-currency lending to Group com-

panies for financing purposes. Currency risk in operating activi-

ties mainly relates to the supply of goods and provision of

services to Group companies. Currency risk exposure on such

transactions is closed by the use of same-currency offsetting

transactions and derivative financial instruments. The currency

risk on operating business between Group companies and

external customers and suppliers is estimated to be low as

most such business is transacted in the local currency of the

companies concerned.

Interest rates

We face interest rate risk mainly on variable interest liabilities

due to banks and on invested cash and cash equivalents. Both 

a rise and a fall in the interest rate curve results in interest rate

exposure. We mitigate adverse changes in value from unex-

pected interest rate movements by using derivative financial

instruments. Interest rate risk is considered to be low as most

liabilities due to banks are subject to long-term fixed rates of

interest.

2008 2007

Production 3,128 3,063

Sales and administration 2,896 2,758

Total 6,024 5,821

Germany 1,892 1,871

Other countries 4,132 3,950

Total 6,024 5,821

Employees
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Raw material prices

Our raw material price risk primarily results from price fluctu-

ations on the world market for copper, aluminium and their

alloys. We make targeted use of commodity derivatives to

minimise this risk. Most of our copper and aluminium needs

for 2009 and 2010 are covered at fixed prices. On current infor-

mation, WILO Group earnings would be affected by price fluc-

tuations on the world market for copper, aluminium and their

alloys from 2011.

Credit risk

Customer credit risk is addressed with a uniform and effective

Group-wide system for consistent receivables management

and monitoring of payment behaviour. Dependency on individ-

ual customers is limited because WILO does not generate more

than 10.0 percent of total net sales with any one customer. It is

not possible to predict how the economic crisis will affect cus-

tomer payment behaviour.

Liquidity

WILO SE aims to ensure cost-effective coverage of financing

needs for the operating activities of Group companies at all

times and deploys a range of financial market instruments to

this end. There are also cash pooling and financing arrange-

ments with Group companies where appropriate and permit-

ted under local commercial and tax law.

All Group-level financial transactions are recorded in cen-

tralised treasury software and monitored by WILO SE, enabling

risks to be balanced among companies in the Group. Detailed

information on the use of derivative financial instruments is

provided in Notes 12 and 13 of the notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

Information technology

WILO mitigates information technology risk in the form of

data loss and system downtime with daily backups of all criti-

cal business data. The business database serving production,

materials management, order processing, financial account-

ing and cost accounting conforms to top security standards.

WILO’s critical business applications run in two separate, cer-

tified, extremely powerful data centres. Certified processes

and business recovery plans are also in place for the event of

disaster. System downtime is additionally minimised by tar-

geted deployment of an in-house support team and outside

service providers.

Overall assessment

No risk is currently identifiable that might raise doubt about the

entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Significant events after the balance sheet date

There have been no significant events after the balance

sheet date.

Outlook 

Leading German economic research institutes, the World Bank

and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) forecast a global

recession for the world economy in 2009 with real growth of

between 0.3 and 0.9 percent. For 2010, the economists project

a slight world economic recovery with growth of between 1.4

and 1.9 percent. The main reasons for this pessimistic forecast

are unfavourable business earnings prospects, a financial sec-

tor crisis with few signs of it coming to an end, restrictive bank

lending policies tied to considerably tighter loan terms, and

capital depletion as a result of falling property prices.
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The research institutes and the World Bank expect that real

GDP in industrial countries will shrink in 2009 by 1.0 to 1.8 per-

cent, with the recession biting hardest in the euro area with a

contraction of 2.7 percent and the USA with a fall of 1.5 per-

cent. The research institutes and the World Bank forecast a

slowdown of economic growth in emerging economies to 4.5

percent. The Chinese economy is set to grow by 5.8 percent,

the Indian economy by 4.7 percent and the Russian economy

by just 1.5 percent.

The German government, the European Commission and lead-

ing economic research institutes anticipate a deep recession

for the German economy in 2009. GDP is forecast to shrink by

2.25 percent. This will mainly be the result of Germany, in its

role as one of the leading export nations, being hit very hard by 

a decline in world trade. German exports are expected to drop

by 8.9 percent in 2009. The research institutes also predict

lower domestic demand and rising unemployment. Only in

2010 is the international environment expected to improve

slightly as the financial crisis gradually eases. 

For the German construction industry, the ifo Institute proj-

ects a 1.6 percent decrease in real construction spending.

This mostly reflects a 5.6 percent fall in commercial con-

struction and a 1.3 percent decrease in residential con-

struction. Both of these sectors will be adversely affected,

though to differing degrees, by the general downturn in

2009, leading to the postponement of construction plans, 

as well as by a further deterioration in borrowing terms.

Public construction spending, in contrast, is predicted to

expand by 6.9 percent in 2009. The main factors in this lat-

ter increase will be the stimulus packages adopted by the

national government as well as building and refurbishment

works carried out by local authorities.

The Association of the German Sanitary Industry forecasts

that building services engineering – another segment of

importance to the WILO Group – will contract by a slight

0.7 percent in 2009. The main cause of this decrease is cited

as lower domestic demand, as exports are set to remain at

2008 levels.

The WILO Group is internationally well positioned to weather a

global recession forecast for 2009 and to emerge from the

crisis with renewed strength in the years that follow. The Group’s

longstanding corporate strategy of promoting innovation and

international market presence are key to mastering the chal-

lenges ahead. In light of the harsh global economic climate,

potential impacts of the economic crisis on the WILO Group

have been analysed at short notice and action identified and in

some cases already initiated; the Group has also adopted an

effective, rapid monitoring system.

We are confident that, with our long-horizon innovation

policy and the flexible action already partially adopted at

short notice to counter adverse impacts of the global eco-

nomic crisis, we can lastingly secure and strengthen the

WILO Group’s economic and financial situation and its

prospects for the future. We are ready with further counter-

measures should the economic crisis and its impacts on 

the WILO Group worsen in severity.

Given the considerable prevailing uncertainty regarding

future global economic developments, we are refraining 

to an extent from making quantitative projections for the

WILO Group’s net sales and EBIT performance over the next

two years and provide qualitative guidance in their place.
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Despite the negative forecasts for the economy and the severe

deterioration in the market environment, we expect to pass

the EUR 1 billion mark on net sales in 2009.

This represents sales growth of over 2 percent for the WILO

Group, well below the sales growth expected and achieved in

preceding years. This marginal sales growth is mostly set to be

generated in Western Europe and Asia. We expect to achieve

higher sales both in our Heating and Air Conditioning and in

our Water and Sewage segment in 2009, as in previous years

with a stronger increase in our growth segment of Water and

Sewage than in our Heating and Air Conditioning segment. We

also anticipate slight growth in sales for 2010.

In contrast to the slight sales growth for 2009, we expect that

2009 will bring a minor decrease in EBIT and a fall in the EBIT

margin compared with the previous year. This will mostly be

due to a disproportionate increase in selling and administration

expenses as a percentage of net sales in growth markets in

order to establish the necessary infrastructure in these mar-

kets. We expect that EBIT will remain at its 2009 level in 2010.

If the global economic crisis proves longer-lasting and the

WILO Group is harder hit than expected, then we anticipate a

further decline in EBIT for 2010.

It is currently difficult to estimate what implications the global

economic crisis will actually have for the already revised sales

and EBIT projections given by the WILO Group, as the uncer-

tainty inherent in the underlying assumptions and the potential

impact of any forecasting inaccuracies are considerably greater

than in past years.

We are confident, however, that both the improved financing

structure in line with Group needs and the very strong 42 per-

cent ratio of equity to total assets will contribute substantially

to the long-term profitable growth and prospects of the WILO

Group, even in these times of severe global economic crisis.

The development of our decentralised pump system is also to

be highlighted as a groundbreaking product innovation. In

particular, this innovation underpins our claim to technology

leadership as well as to future focus in corporate culture and

business development. The system will be launched under

the GENIAX brand name in spring 2009. For customers, the

new system not only means major improvements in energy

efficiency and heating energy needs, but also in the use of

heating and cooling.

Long-term borrowings in place at 31 December 2008 are

subject to customary covenants requiring WILO SE to maintain

certain financial ratios within set bands. We fully complied

with these covenants in both 2008 and 2007 and currently

have no indication that we will be unable to comply 

with them in future. Detailed information on this topic 

is provided in Note 9.9 of the notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

Unforeseeable developments and events may lead to

changes in expectations and deviations from forecasts.
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Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2008

EUR ’000 Note 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Non-current assets

Intangible assets (9.1) 58,671 60,721

Property, plant and equipment (9.2) 164,892 146,809

Equity-accounted investments (9.4) 3,134 855

Other financial assets (9.4) 4,597 4,722

Trade accounts receivable (9.6) 2,238 3,455

Other assets (9.6) 1,229 1,332

Deferred tax assets (8.10) 16,799 15,982

251,560 233,876

Current assets

Inventories (9.5) 147,067 153,663

Trade accounts receivable (9.6) 197,803 199,830

Other assets (9.6) 26,168 26,655

Cash and cash equivalents (9.7) 45,452 25,298

416,490 405,446

Assets 668,050 639,322

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Assets

EUR ’000 Note 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Equity (9.8)

Share capital 26,000 26,000

Retained earnings 280,620 284,772

Currency translation differences (16,758) (7,495)

Treasury stock (7,829) (7,892)

Equity before minority interests 282,033 295,385

Minority interests 424 2,305

282,457 297,690

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks (9.9) 83,621 62,913

Trade accounts payable (9.9) 8,408 5,299

Other liabilities (9.9) 17,203 14,253

Provisions for pensions (9.9) 35,936 35,513

Provisions for similar obligations (9.9) 6,772 6,810

Guarantee provisions (9.9) 3,468 3,694

Deferred tax liabilities (8.10) 14,827 17,906

170,235 146,388

Current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks (9.10) 19,460 26,656

Trade accounts payable (9.10) 66,683 59,419

Other liabilities (9.10) 87,157 75,381

Provisions (9.10) 42,058 33,788

215,358 195,244

Liabilities 668,050 639,322

Liabilities
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Consolidated income statementfor the period 
1 January to 31 December 2008

Statement of recognised income and expenses
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2008

EUR ’000 Note 2008 2007

Net sales (8.1) 977,234 927,349

Cost of sales (8.2) (596,029) (559,945)

Gross profit 381,205 367,404

Selling expenses (8.3) (196,354) (184,400)

Administrative expenses (8.4) (62,172) (57,857)

Research and development costs (8.5) (34,454) (27,554)

Other operating income (8.6) 19,609 16,224

Other operating expenses (8.7) (19,225) (14,424)

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) (8.11) 88,609 99,393

Net income from equity-accounted investments (8.8) (952) (1,036)

Net financial income (8.9) (25,814) (3,822)

Consolidated net income before taxes (8.11) 61,843 94,535

Income taxes (8.10) (16,613) (33,789)

Consolidated net income after taxes (8.11) 45,230 60,746

Of which: attributable to minority interests 784 769

Of which: attributable to shareholders of WILO SE 44,446 59,977

Basic and diluted earnings per share 
are EUR 4,57 (2007: EUR 6,15). (8.12)

Consolidated income statement

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Currency translation differences -9,527 -3,919

Total income and expenses recognised in equity -9,527 -3,919

Consolidated net income after taxes 45,230 60,746

Total recognised income and expenses 35,703 56,827

Of which: attributable to minority interests 520 696

Of which: attributable to shareholders of WILO SE 35,183 56,131

Statement of recognised income and expenses

EUR ’000 2008 2007 Change

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 88,609 99,393 (10,784)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments on intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment 27,919 29,086 (1,167)

Increase/decrease in non-current provisions 160 (1,204) 1,364

Losses/gains on disposals of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (net) 36 (496) 532

Decrease/increase in inventories 6,596 (18,471) 25,067

Decrease/increase in trade accounts receivable and other assets 
not attributable to investing or financing activities 6,487 (21,787) 28,274

Increase in current provisions 8,270 5,687 2,583

Increase in advance payments received 1,966 1,030 936

Increase/decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities
not attributable to investing or financing activities 7,424 (15,753) 23,177

Other non-cash income and expenses (net) (3,944) (1,750) (2,194)

Cash flows from operating activities 143,523 75,735 67,788

Income taxes paid (25,037) (35,275) 10,238

Net cash provided by operating activities 118,486 40,460 78,026

Purchases of intangible assets (2,548) (3,386) 838

Disposals of property, plant and equipment 3,336 3,695 (359)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (49,759) (43,016) (6,743)

Repayment of loans and disposals of financial assets 544 1,466 (922)

Purchases of financial assets (3,671) (1,043) (2,628)

Purchases of consolidated entities  
and subsequent purchase price obligations (11,220) (420) (10,800)

Net cash used in investing activities (63,318) (42,704) (20,614)

Dividends paid (38,079) (22,122) (15,957)

Proceeds from new borrowings 25,000 5,636 19,364

Repayment of borrowings (14,087) (8,352) (5,735)

Purchases of treasury stock (453) (2,945) 2,492

Disposals of treasury stock 240 128 112

Interest received 1,727 1,672 55

Interest paid (7,090) (8,059) 969

Dividends received 60 55 5

Net cash used in financing activities (32,682) (33,987) 1,305

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 22,486 (36,231) 58,717

Effects of exchange rate changes and changes in the composition of the 
consolidated group on cash and cash equivalents (2,332) 2,197 (4,529)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 25,298 59,332 (34,034)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 45,452 25,298 20,154

Consolidated cash flow statement

Consolidated cash flow statement for the period 
1 January to 31 December 2008

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Segment reporting

Western Europe Eastern Europe
EUR ’000 2008 2007 2008 2007

External net sales 531,936 508,867 239,298 221,695

Inter-segment sales  146,468 136,359 - -

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 58,646 59,989 29,736 36,383

Of which: depreciation and amortisation on intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment 16,734 16,522 5,704 5,659

Of which: other non-cash items 30,196 21,265 1,724 1,924

Net income from equity-accounted investments - - - -

Net financial income - - - -

Income taxes - - - -

Consolidated net income after taxes - - - -

Assets 431,255 398,093 73,570 80,188

Of which: equity-accounted investments

Liabilities 216,106 182,694 11,761 12,801

Capital expenditure on intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment 39,508 34,418 5,165 3,653

Primary reporting format: by geographical region

Asia Other regions Total
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

151,598 149,024 54,402 47,763 977,234 927,349

2,554 3,778 - - 149,022 140,137

6,806 10,897 (6,579) (7,876) 88,609 99,393

3,943 3,690 1,538 1,199 27,919 27,070

1,978 6,887 1,967 515 35,865 30,591

- - (952) (1,036) (952) (1,036)

- - - - (25,814) (3,822)

- - - - (16,613) (33,789)

- - - - 45,230 60,746

111,834 113,535 34,592 31,524 651,251 623,340

3,134 855 3,134 855

32,404 28,480 3,610 2,376 263,881 226,351

5,879 4,146 1,755 4,182 52,307 46,399

Primary reporting format: by geographical region

Heating & Air Conditioning Water & Sewage
EUR ’000 2008 2007 2008 2007

External net sales 569,250 545,835 381,576 357,180

Assets 294,302 295,896 268,194 261,484

Investments 30,720 29,748 19,047 16,508

Further information on the segment reporting is provided in Note 11.

Secondary reporting format: by business segment

Others Total
2008 2007 2008 2007

26,408 24,334 977,234 927,349

18,707 16,721 581,203 574,101

2,540 143 52,307 46,399

Secondary reporting format: by business segment
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the 2008 financial year

(1.) General information

In accordance with the transformation plan of 10 March 2008

and as approved at the shareholders’ meeting of 26 June

2008, WILO AG was transformed in 2008 into a European

Company (Societas Europaea, or SE). The transformation

entered into effect on recording in the commercial register at

Dortmund local court on 24 July 2008. The name of the

Company was changed from WILO AG to WILO SE. The trans-

formation resulted neither in the dissolution of WILO AG nor 

in the creation of a new legal entity. WILO SE being identical

with WILO AG, the organisational structure, management

structure and shareholders’ ownership remain unchanged.

WILO SE (the Company) has its registered office in Dortmund,

Germany, and is the parent company of the WILO Group. The

Group’s core business is the production and worldwide sale of

machinery, notably liquid pumps and appliances. The WILO

Group develops, manufactures and markets pumps and build-

ing technology systems, primarily for heating, refrigeration, air

conditioning and ventilation systems, for water supply and for

sewage and effluent disposal.

(2.) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of WILO SE at and for the

year ended 31 December 2008 have been prepared in accor-

dance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as

adopted by the European Union and with all interpretations of

the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

(IFRIC) applicable for 2008. WILO SE makes use of the option

provided for in Section 315a (3) of the German Commercial

Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) and is therefore not required

to prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with

German commercial law. For equivalence with consolidated

financial statements prepared in accordance with German com-

mercial law, the disclosure requirements of Section 315a (1) of

the German Commercial Code are met in addition to the IFRS

disclosure requirements. The consolidated financial statements

are prepared in accordance with IFRS, including the IAS stan-

dards still in effect, as amended at the reporting date. The con-

solidated financial statements are fully in compliance with IFRS

and present an accurate account of the Group’s financial posi-

tion and performance.

A number of income statement and balance sheet items are

combined for clarity of presentation. These items are shown

and explained separately in the notes. The income statement

is prepared using the cost of sales method.

All amounts in tables are in thousands of euros (EUR thou-

sand) unless otherwise indicated. Round figures in the text

of the notes are stated to the nearest thousand. Annual financial

statements of subsidiaries outside of the European Monetary

Union are translated from local currency into euros.

(3.) Application of new and amended standards

The following amendments to existing standards and inter-

pretations whose first-time application was required from 1

January 2008 had no impact on the 2008 consolidated finan-

cial statements of WILO SE:

• Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Reclassification of

Financial Assets

• IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions

• IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

The following are standards, amendments to existing stan-

dards and interpretations issued by the IASB and IFRIC whose

application was not yet required or for which EU endorsement

was still pending in 2008. WILO does not plan to apply any of

these standards early.
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• Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of 

Financial Statements 

• Amendment to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

• Amendment to IAS 27 Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements

• Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 

Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial

Statements: Puttable Financial Instruments and

Obligations Arising on Liquidation

• Amendment to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement: Eligible Hedged Items

• Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International

Financial Reporting Standards and IAS 27 Consolidated and

Separate Financial Statements: Cost of an Investment in a

Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

• Amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: 

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

• Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations

• IFRS 8 Operating Segments

• IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

• IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

• IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a 

Foreign Operation

Only the standards, amendments to existing standards and

interpretations that will have an impact on the consolidat-

ed financial statements of WILO SE are detailed below.

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

In September 2007, the IASB published the revised IAS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements. The main changes in 

the revised IAS 1 relate to the presentation of changes in 

equity arising from transactions with owners separately from

non-owner changes in equity and the presentation of total

recognised income and expense and other comprehensive

income in the consolidated financial statements. The revised

IAS 1 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2009. First-time application of the amended IAS 1 in

the WILO Group consolidated financial statements will result 

in presentation changes in the income statement and the

statement of changes in equity.

Amendment to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

The IASB issued a revised IAS 23 Borrowing Costs in March

2007. The main change from the previous version of IAS 23 is

the removal of the option of immediately recognising borrow-

ing costs relating to the acquisition, development or produc-

tion of qualifying assets as an expense. Qualifying assets are

assets which require a substantial period of time to bring 

them to a condition suitable for use or sale. The revised stan-

dard applies to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets

for which acquisition or production commences on or after

1 January 2009. The impact of applying the revised IAS 23 on

the WILO Group’s consolidated financial statements is cur-

rently being assessed.

Amendment to IAS 27 Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements

In January 2008, the IASB published a revised IAS 27 with

amendments to the rules on accounting for transactions

between controlling and non-controlling shareholders and

for the event of loss of control in a subsidiary. Acquisitions

of additional shares in subsidiaries and partial disposals of

subsidiaries while retaining control are now accounted for

directly in equity. The standard also rules on the recognition 

of any gains or losses on disposal and the measurement of

any residual holding in a subsidiary after loss of control. The

revised IAS 27 applies for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 July 2009.The impact of applying the revised IAS 27 

on the WILO Group’s consolidated financial statements is

currently being assessed.
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Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations

The IASB published an amended IFRS 3 Business Combinations

in January 2008. The main changes relate to the scope of the

standard, accounting for step acquisitions, and an optional

accounting treatment under which non-controlling interests

may be accounted for either at fair value or at their proportion-

ate interest in the net identifiable assets of the acquiree.

Depending on which option a reporting entity elects, any good-

will arising in the business combination is recognised either in

full or only in proportion to the controlling interest. The revised

IFRS 3 applies for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2009.The impact of applying the revised IFRS 3 on the WILO

Group’s consolidated financial statements is currently being

assessed.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments 

The IASB issued IFRS 8 Operating Segments in November

2006 to replace IAS 14 Segment Reporting. IFRS 8 requires

the entity to adopt the ‘management approach’ to reporting

on the financial performance of operating segments that are

subject to disclosure requirements. Operating segments are

components of an organisation which deliver separate infor-

mation on financial performance that is regularly assessed by

the operating division’s management to evaluate segment

performance and decide how to allocate resources. Generally,

the financial information to be reported would be what man-

agement uses internally for evaluating segment performance

and for decisions on allocating resources to operating seg-

ments. IFRS 8 applies for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2009. The impact of applying IFRS 8 on the WILO

Group’s consolidated financial statements is currently being

assessed.

(4.) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include WILO SE and

all significant entities under its direct or indirect control. The

balance sheets and income statements of these entities are

included in the consolidated financial statements in accor-

dance with IAS 27.

In addition to WILO SE, the consolidated financial statements at

31 December 2008 include 6 German entities (2007: 6) and 56

foreign entities (2007: 56) in which WILO SE directly or indirect-

ly holds the majority of voting rights. Two subsidiaries (2007: 1)

are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

WILO SE increased its majority shareholding in Indian subsidiary

Mather and Platt Pumps Ltd. from 62.8 to 90.2 percent in 2008

in a delisting offer on Mumbai Stock Exchange and Pune Stock

Exchange. Mather and Platt Pumps Ltd. was delisted in Mumbai

on 3 February and in Pune on 7 February 2009. The purchase of

additional shares and the consequent delisting serves to boost

the WILO Group’s long-term business activities and operating

flexibility in India.

The acquisition cost of the additional 27.4 percent sharehold-

ing in Mather and Platt Pumps Ltd. was EUR 10,495 thousand.

This includes related costs of EUR 652 thousand. The increase

in the majority shareholding is accounted for as an owner

transaction. The EUR 8,443 thousand difference between the

acquisition cost and the EUR 2,052 thousand proportionate

carrying amount of the 27.4 percent minority shareholding is

accounted for directly in equity as a deduction from retained

earnings.
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WILO SE and its Arabic joint venture partner agreed on 28 May

2008 to dissolve and commence liquidation proceedings 

in respect of the joint venture WILO Middle East LLC, Riyadh,

Saudi Arabia. In this connection, WILO SE acquired from its

joint venture partner for a purchase price of SAR 16,890 thou-

sand (equivalent to EUR 2,899 thousand) the right to be paid

out the entire capital remaining after liquidation. WILO Middle

East LLC ceased trading at the end of November 2008. As in

the previous year, the joint venture is accounted for using the

equity method in accordance with IAS 31.

Associate EMU I.D.F. S.A.R.L., Ste. Geneviève-des-Bois,

France, is accounted for at amortised cost in accordance

with IAS 28.

A list of all WILO SE’s direct and indirect shareholdings is

provided on pages 92 and 93.

(5.) Business combinations, jointly controlled entities 

and intragroup transactions 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition

method in accordance with IFRS 3, with fair values remeasured

at the acquisition date. The assets, liabilities and contingent lia-

bilities of the acquiree are identified in accordance with IFRS 3

at their acquisition date fair value and compared with the cost

of the business combination. The net fair value of any assets

and liabilities not acquired is accounted for as minority interest.

Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the

remeasured net fair value of the identified assets and liabilities

is capitalised as goodwill and tested annually for impairment at

the level of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is

allocated. If the acquired net assets exceed cost, the identifica-

tion and measurement are reassessed and any remaining excess

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Shares in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using

the equity method in accordance with IAS 31.

Intragroup sales, income, expenses, receivables, payables and

contingent liabilities are eliminated. Profits and losses result-

ing from intragroup trading and recognised in inventory are

eliminated in full. Any temporary differences arising on con-

solidation are accounted for by recognising deferred tax items

as appropriate.

(6.) Currency translation

Foreign-currency transactions in the separate financial state-

ments of WILO SE and consolidated subsidiaries are translated

into functional currency at the transaction date exchange rate.

Foreign-currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated

at the average rate on the reporting date and any exchange

gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary

assets and liabilities measured at cost are translated at the

transaction date exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured

at fair value are translated at the measurement date exchange

rate.

Items in the separate financial statements of consolidated enti-

ties are measured in the currency of the primary economic envi-

ronment (functional currency). Financial statements prepared in

functional currencies other than the euro are translated into

euros. The reporting currency used in the consolidated financial

statements is the euro. All assets and liabilities are translated at

the reporting date exchange rate. Income statement items are

translated for inclusion in the consolidated financial statements

at annual average rates, which closely approximate to transac-

tion date exchange rates. Translation differences are accounted

for as a separate component of equity until a subsidiary is dis-

posed of.
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Translation differences on certain intragroup foreign-currency

loans and receivables treated in accordance with IAS 21 as part

of the entity’s net investment in a foreign operation are recog-

nised directly in equity under currency translation differences.

No restatement in accordance with IAS 29 was necessary in

2008 as the WILO Group does not have any subsidiaries in

hyperinflationary economies.

The main exchange rates used in currency translation are as

follows:

(7.) Accounting policies

The financial statements of WILO SE and its domestic and for-

eign subsidiaries are prepared using uniform accounting poli-

cies in accordance with IAS 27. Items are presented in the bal-

ance sheet primarily using a current/non-current classification.

An asset or liability is classified as current if it is expected to be

realised within 12 months of the reporting date. 
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Expense and revenue recognition

Revenue is normally recognised when service is rendered or

goods are delivered. Net sales are presented net of trade dis-

counts and rebates. Cost of sales includes all direct and indi-

rect costs incurred in generating revenue, including deprecia-

tion on production machinery. Cost of sales also includes

amounts recognised for guarantee provisions. Operating

expenses are recognised in profit or loss when service is ren-

dered or the expenses incurred. Interest income and interest

expenses are recognised on an accrual basis.

Selling expenses and administrative expenses

Selling expenses and administrative expenses include attribut-

able labour and material costs plus depreciation applicable to

each functional area.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs are reported as a separate

line item in the income statement. The recognition criteria

for the capitalisation of development costs in accordance

with IAS 38 were not met in 2008 or 2007.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are not capitalised.

Intangible assets

Finite-lived intangible assets acquired for valuable consider-

ation are recognised at cost and amortised on a straight-line

basis over their useful lives (3 to 5 years in the WILO Group).

The amortisation charge for the year is allocated to func-

tional areas as appropriate.

In accordance with IFRS 3 and IAS 38 read in conjunction with

IAS 36, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets acquired

for valuable consideration are not amortised but are tested for

impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that

they may be impaired. If impairment testing of goodwill or of

an indefinite-lived intangible asset acquired for valuable con-

sideration shows the goodwill or the asset to be impaired, the

impairment loss is recognised in other operating expenses.

Leases

Leases that meet the classification criteria for finance leases

under IAS 17 are initially recognised as assets and liabilities at

amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if low-

er, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each

determined at the inception of the lease. If it is not reasonably

certain that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the

lease term, the leased asset is fully depreciated on a straight-

line basis over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

The main finance leases relate to three operating buildings.

There are also leases for IT equipment. Leased property is

returned to the lessor at the end of the lease term.

Where consolidated companies are lessees under operating

leases, lease payments are immediately recognised as expense

in profit or loss.

Pound sterling GBP 0.8038 0.6873 0.9600 0.7346

Chinese renminbi (yuan) CNY 10.2301 10.4424 9.6090 10.7400

Indian rupee INR 64.3776 56.6800 68.4300 57.9500

South Korean won KRW 1,621.5000 1,278.7494 1,775.50000 1,377.0000

Russian rouble RUB 36.8383 34.8396 42.2650 35.9950

Turkish lira TRY 1.9196 1.7826 2.1520 1.7135

US dollar USD 1.4741 1.3790 1.3977 1.4716

Currency translation rates

Annual average rate Rate as at 31 December
1 € = 2008 2007 2008 2007

Estimates and assumptions

Preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity

with IASB standards requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and recog-

nition of assets and liabilities, income and expenses and con-

tingent liabilities. The main estimates and assumptions relate

to the uniform estimation of useful lives for assets throughout

the Group, the recognition and measurement of provisions – in

particular provisions for pensions and similar obligations – and

goodwill and guarantee provisions, and the probability that

deferred tax assets will be realised.

The underlying estimates and assumptions, and the associat-

ed carrying amounts, are explained in the relevant sections of

the notes. Actual amounts can vary from estimated amounts

in individual instances. Any such variance is recognised in

profit or loss when identified.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a cost

basis with the exception of derivative financial instruments

and available-for-sale financial instruments, which are meas-

ured at fair value. The accounting policies used in preparing

the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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Property, plant and equipment

Tangible assets used in the business for longer than one year

are measured at cost less straight-line depreciation. Cost

comprises the purchase price plus all directly attributable

costs incurred in bringing an asset to the location and condi-

tion necessary for it to be capable of operating. Estimated

useful lives are based on economic depreciation and experi-

ence with similar assets. The estimated useful life of a build-

ing is between 10 and 60 years; leasehold improvements are

depreciated over their useful life or, if shorter, the lease term.

Estimated useful lives of plant and machinery are up to 14

years. Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment subject to

normal use are depreciated over 3 to 13 years. Significant

parts of an asset that meet the criteria set out in IAS 16 are

accounted for using the component approach. The deprecia-

tion charge for the year is allocated to functional areas as

appropriate.

Impairment of assets

Assets are tested for impairment at each reporting date.

Depreciable assets are additionally tested for impairment when-

ever there is an indication that their carrying amount may

exceed their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is

the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment and

whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired. On

impairment testing, the recoverable amount of cash-gener-

ating units is measured as the higher of fair value less costs

to sell and value in use. Fair value is the best estimate of the

amount obtainable at the reporting date from the sale of a

cash-generating unit in an arm’s length transaction. Value in

use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to

be derived from a cash-generating unit. Fair value less costs

to sell is measured using the discounted cash flow method on

the basis of approved plans over a strategic planning horizon

of up to five years. An appropriate, unit-specific growth fac-

tor is applied. The plans are based on past experience and pro-

jected market development. The cash-generating units in the

WILO Group are identified by dividing the divisions compris-

ing the Heating and Air Conditioning, Water and Sewage seg-

ments into product groups. On impairment testing, goodwill

and all other assets are allocated to cash-generating units

and their carrying amounts compared with the recoverable

amount of the cash-generating unit to which they are allo-

cated. If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is

lower than the carrying amount of the goodwill and all other

assets allocated to it, an impairment must be recognised in

profit or loss. An impairment loss is first allocated to reduce

the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-

generating unit and then pro rata to other assets in the unit.

Impairment losses are reported in other operating expenses

on the income statement.

The discount rate used in annual impairment testing of cash-

generating units is determined on the basis of market data. A

rate of 9.1 percent after tax was used in 2008 (2007: 8.2 per-

cent). The unit-specific growth factor is up to 1.1 percent.

Equity-accounted investments

Investments in jointly controlled entities are measured using

the equity method of accounting and reported in the equity-

accounted investments item on the balance sheet. The pro-

portionate consolidation method is not used.

Other financial assets

Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries included in

other financial assets are measured at fair value if their fair

value can be reliably measured and otherwise at amortised

cost. Any additional impairment identified on impairment

testing is recognised in profit or loss. The loans included in

other financial assets are loans and receivables that in accor-

dance with IAS 39 are normally measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.

57

Financial instruments 

Financial instruments are initially recognised at cost on the set-

tlement date, which is the date an asset comes into being or is

transferred. For subsequent measurement, financial instru-

ments are classified in accordance with IAS 39 into loans and

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale

financial assets and financial assets or financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss. At the WILO Group, the latter cate-

gory consists exclusively of financial assets held for trading. 

No use is made of the fair value option under IAS 39.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity financial invest-

ments are measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method or, if lower, at their recoverable amount.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value if

their fair value can be reliably determined in an active market

and otherwise at amortised cost. Financial assets held for trad-

ing are measured at fair value.

Any changes in the fair value of financial assets held for trading

and any impairment losses are immediately recognised in profit

or loss. Unrealised gains and losses from changes in the fair

value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised

directly in equity. On disposal or impairment of available-for-

sale financial assets, any cumulative gains or losses recognised

in equity are recognised in profit or loss as gains or losses on

financial instruments. The WILO Group does not have any

held-to-maturity financial investments and does not have

material holdings of available-for-sale financial assets. In the

WILO Group, the available-for-sale category is a residual clas-

sification for primary financial instruments that are within the

scope of IAS 39 and are not assigned to other categories.

The financial instruments held by the WILO Group consist of

shares in subsidiaries and associates, available-for-sale secu-

rities, other loans, trade receivables, other financial instru-

ments (including derivative financial instruments) and cash

and cash equivalents.

WILO SE classifies financial instruments into cash and cash

equivalents, the categories used in accordance with IAS 39,

and finance lease liabilities.

Inventories

Materials and supplies and goods are measured at the lower

of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the

weighted average cost method.

Work in progress and finished goods are measured at costs of

conversion. These include all costs directly attributable to pro-

duction and a systematic allocation of production overheads.

Production overheads include production-related depreciation,

pro-rata administration costs and pro-rata social insurance

costs. Costs of conversion do not include borrowing costs.

Adjustments are made in respect of materials and supplies and

in respect of goods for quality and functional defects and for

risks of failure to sell.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realis-

able value at the reporting date, where net realisable value is

the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business

less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Accounts receivable and other assets

Current assets comprise trade accounts receivable, other

receivables and other assets, and cash and cash equivalents

(cheques, cash at banks and cash on hand). All financial instru-

ments are initially recognised at cost on the settlement date, i.e.

on inception of a receivable or transfer of beneficial ownership.

Trade accounts receivable and other assets are measured at

amortised cost. 

Adequate provision is made for default risk by writedowns in

the form of specific and general valuation allowances. Specific

valuation allowances are recognised on the basis of informa-

tion available in a specific case at the reporting date. Specific

valuation allowances are recognised in an appropriate amount

in relation to any legal, collection or insolvency proceedings

against debtors, overdue payments, complaints, third-party

collateral, changes in agreed terms of payment, and other

events or information affecting the collectibility of trade or

other receivables. General valuation allowances are recognised

on the basis of risk experience as to general credit risk and

country risk. Specific and general valuation allowances are

charged to separate adjustment accounts. Objectively uncol-

lectible receivables are derecognised.

Receivables and other assets with a term of more than 12 months

are classified as non-current assets and are discounted to present

value if the discounting effect is material.

Derivative financial instruments

The WILO Group uses derivative financial instruments (‘deriva-

tives’) to counter interest rate, currency and fair value risk but

does not apply hedge accounting as defined in IFRS. In accor-

dance with IAS 39, all financial derivatives are initially recog-

nised at cost and subsequently measured at fair value. Changes

in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Derivatives with a

positive fair value are included in other assets and derivatives

with a negative fair value are included in other liabilities.

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognised in

accordance with IAS 12 for all temporary differences between

the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the IFRS financial

statements and its tax base. Deferred tax assets are also recog-

nised in respect of the expected utilisation of unused tax loss

carryforwards in subsequent years provided the tax loss carry-

forwards are sufficiently certain to be utilised. Deferred tax

assets are tested for impairment at the reporting date. Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are

expected to apply when the asset is realised or the liability set-

tled, based on the tax rates and tax laws enacted or substan-

tively enacted in each country by the reporting date. The tax

consequences of dividends are not recognised until endorse-

ment of the dividend proposal. Deferred tax assets are only off-

set against deferred tax liabilities if they relate to income taxes

levied by the same taxation authority and have matching terms.

Information on the deferred taxes at 31 December 2008 is pro-

vided in Note 8.10.
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Government grants 

In accordance with IAS 20, a government grant is only recog-

nised if there is reasonable assurance of compliance with the

conditions attached to it and that the grant will be received.

Research and investment grants received by the WILO Group are

recognised as income over the periods necessary to match

them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Investment subsidies are recognised as deferred income and

amortised over the useful life of the subsidised asset.

Equity

Treasury stock is measured at cost and reported under a sep-

arate item as a deduction from equity.  

Provisions for pensions

Defined benefit plans

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or

amount relating to defined benefit obligations. In accordance

with IAS 19, provisions for defined benefit obligations are

determined using the internationally recognised projected

unit credit method. The calculations are based on actuarial

appraisals and biometric parameters. Actuarial gains and

losses exceeding 10.0 percent of the greater of the defined

benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets are recog-

nised using the corridor method. Recognised actuarial gains

and losses are amortised over the remaining working lives of

participating employees. The expense relating to provisions

for pensions, with the exception of the interest portion

included in net financial income, is allocated to the relevant

functional areas.

Defined benefit obligations are determined using actuarial

methods essential to the measurement of projected benefits.

The calculations use the following parameters, shown here on 

a weighted-average basis:

The expected return on plan assets is 4.21 percent (2007:

4.94 percent) based on historical data and stated on a

weighted-average basis.

The actuarial present value of defined benefit obligations cal-

culated using the projected unit credit method is reduced by

the fair value of plan assets, provided that the criteria specified

in IAS 19 for plan assets are met.

Defined contribution plans

Obligations under defined contribution plans are deter-

mined by contributions payable for the period under review.

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Interest rate 6.00% 5.35%

Pension indexation 2.09% 1.97%

Salary increase 3.00% 3.10%

Fluctuation rate 4.47% 4.48%

Benefit obligation calculation parameters
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Other provisions

Provisions for taxes include current income tax liabilities. Other

provisions are recognised in accordance with IAS 37 when

there is a present obligation to a third party resulting from a

past event, settling the obligation will probably require an out-

flow of resources and the amount of the obligation can be reli-

ably estimated. Non-current provisions for obligations not

expected to result in an outflow of resources in the next year

are recognised at the net present value of the expected out-

flow of resources. The discount rate is based on market inter-

est rates. The settlement amount includes expected cost

increases. Provisions are remeasured at each reporting date.

Provisions are not offset against rights of recourse.

Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities are recognised at the present value of

the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease. All

liabilities classified as other liabilities are recognised at their

settlement amount or at amortised cost using the effective

interest method. Non-interest-bearing liabilities and liabilities

subject to low rates of interest are discounted at the market

interest rate.

Financial liabilities consist of liabilities due to banks, trade

accounts payable, notes payable, liabilities to jointly con-

trolled entities, liabilities from derivative financial instru-

ments, liabilities from finance leases and sundry other lia-

bilities included in other liabilities. No use is made of the

fair value option under IAS 39. 

(8.) Notes to the consolidated income statement

(8.1) Net sales  

(8.2) Costs of sales

This item consists of costs of conversion and costs of pur-

chase of goods sold. 
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(8.3) Selling expenses

(8.4) Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses are costs of administration not

attributable to production, development or sales.

(8.5) Research and development costs

(8.6) Other operating income

Other operating income includes EUR 9,929 thousand 

(2007: EUR 6,297 thousand) in foreign-currency gains from

operating activities, EUR 1,522 thousand (2007: EUR 1,467

thousand) in gains from disposals of intangible assets 

and property, plant and equipment and EUR 197 thousand 

(2007: EUR 642 thousand) in government grants.

The foreign-currency gains from operating activities mainly

consist of gains due to exchange rate changes between the

inception and settlement of foreign-currency payables and

receivables, and foreign-currency gains resulting from

measurement at the reporting date exchange rate. Foreign-

currency losses on these items are reported under other

operating expenses. As subsidiaries mostly trade with cus-

tomers and suppliers in local currency, these foreign-curren-

cy gains and losses mainly arise on intragroup transactions.

EUR ’000 2008 % 2007 %

Western Europe 531,936 54.4 508,867 54.9

Eastern Europe 239,298 24.5 221,695 23.9

Asia 151,598 15.5 149,024 16.1

Other regions 54,402 5.6 47,763 5.1

Total 977,234 100.0 927,349 100.0

Net sales

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Raw materials and consumables (430,937) (403,638)

Personnel expenses (94,937) (94,668)

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment (17,470) (16,644)

Third-party maintenance (6,353) (6,863)

Rental payments (3,044) (2,837)

Other personnel costs (2,719) (5,735)

Travel and entertainment expenses (2,235) (2,174)

Other (38,334) (27,386)

Total (596,029) (559,945)

Costs of sales

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Personnel expenses (91,120) (84,396)

Advertising costs (26,205) (25,328)

Outgoing freight (23,907) (22,023)

Sales force (16,360) (16,081)

Rental payments (9,340) (8,061)

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment (4,285) (4,320)

Valuation allowances on trade receivables (1,278) (3,084)

Legal and consulting expenses (1,138) (1,136)

Other (22,721) (19,971)

Total (196,354) (184,400)

Selling expenses

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Personnel expenses (29,597) (30,433)

Legal and consulting expenses (6,988) (5,305)

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment (4,416) (4,425)

Travel and entertainment expenses (2,248) (2,274)

Rental payments (1,485) (1,678)

Communication costs (1,235) (1,100)

Other (16,203) (12,642)

Total (62,172) (57,857)

Administrative expenses

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Personnel expenses (17,696) (15,798)

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment (1,748) (1,697)

Legal and consulting expenses (847) (702)

Third-party maintenance (572) (558)

Other (13,591) (8,799)

Total (34,454) (27,554)

Research and development costs
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The losses on derivative financial instruments mainly relate 

to the negative fair value of commodity derivatives following

a steep drop in copper prices in the second half of 2008. The

WILO Group recognised an expense of EUR 17,556 thousand

for negative changes in the fair value of commodity derivatives

outstanding at 31 December 2008.

The foreign-currency losses (2007: foreign-currency gains)

from financing activities are mostly translation losses on 

the EUR 67.5 million (USD 80.0 million) senior notes issued in

2006 (see note 9.9). The currency risk on the notes is fully 

covered by interest rate and currency swaps whose fair 

value was measured at minus EUR 4,383 thousand (2007: 

EUR 6,376 thousand) at the reporting date. Gains on derivative

financial instruments include a EUR 1,993 thousand gain

(2007: EUR 1,922 thousand loss) on fair value measurement 

of interest rate and currency swaps.

(8.10) Income taxes 

A 2008 corporate tax reform act reduced the corporation tax

rate in Germany from 25 percent to 15 percent with effect

from 1 January 2008. The reform act also decreased a multi-

plier used in the assessment of taxable trade income and

reclassified trade tax as a non-deductible operating expense.

Overall, the 2008 German corporate tax reform reduced the

combined corporation tax and trade tax burden from 39.5

percent to 30.8 percent. Deferred taxes are measured using

this combined tax rate of 30.8 percent.

The measurement of current income taxes for 2008 is based

on a combined total of 15.8 percent for corporation tax and

the German solidarity surcharge plus trade tax approximating

to 15.0 percent (total figure in 2007: 39.5 percent).

As in the previous year, foreign entities are subject to local

income tax rates ranging from 10.0 to 40.0 percent.
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(8.7) Other operating expenses

(8.8) Net income from equity-accounted investments 

The negative EUR 952 thousand (2007: negative EUR 1,036

thousand) net income from equity-accounted investments

relates entirely to the jointly controlled entity WILO Middle

East LLC, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

(8.9) Net financial income

Net financial income is made up as follows:

Net interest income consists of the following interest

income and expenses:

Other net financial income is made up as follows:

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Foreign-currency losses from  
operating activities (13,834) (9,212)

Losses on disposals of intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment (1,558) (971)

Goodwill impairment 0 (2,000)

Other (3,833) (2,241)

Total (19,255) (14,424)

Other operating expenses

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Net interest income (5,363) (6,387)

Other net financial income (20,451) 2,565

Total (25,814) (3,822)

Net financial income

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Interest income on cash and cash 
equivalents and on loans granted 1,141 1,088

Settlement of derivative financial 
instruments 586 584

Interest income 1,727 1,672

Interest on debt outstanding (6,680) (7,593)

Interest on finance leases (410) (466)

Interest expenses (7,090) (8,059)

Total (5,363) (6,387)

Net interest income

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Gains on derivative financial instruments 2,396 2,253

Dividends from associates 60 55

Foreign-currency gains from 
financing activities 0 6,275

Sundry other income 16 7

Other financial income 2,472 8,590

Losses on derivative financial instruments (18,075) (4,169)

Foreign-currency losses from 
financing activities (2,591) 0

Unwinding of discount on non-current 
provisions and liabilities (2,257) (1,798)

Sundry other expenses 0 (58)

Other financial expenses (22,923) (6,025)

Total (20,451) 2,565

Other net financial income

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Current tax expense (20,655) (29,849)

Current tax of prior periods (131) (2,764)

Current income taxes (20,786) (32,613)

Deferred tax assets/liabilities 4,173 (1,176)

Income taxes (16,613) (33,789)

Income taxes
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Unused tax losses came to EUR 6,006 thousand (2007: EUR

6,592 thousand) at the reporting date, of which EUR 2,223

thousand (2007: EUR 2,422 thousand) can be carried forward

indefinitely. Unused tax losses of EUR 3,783 thousand (2007:

EUR 4,140 thousand) can be carried forward for up to 10 years.

Applying local income tax rates to the total amount of tax

loss carryforwards would result in the recognition of EUR

1,554 thousand (2007: EUR 1,913 thousand) in deferred

tax assets. EUR 1,169 thousand (2007: EUR 1,699 thousand)

of this total was not recognised at the reporting date

because it was not probable that they would be utilised.

The Group has not recognised a deferred tax liability for

taxable temporary differences on investments in subsi -

diaries, associates or jointly controlled entities because the

amount would not be material. A deferred tax liability of

approximately EUR 300 thousand was recognised in 2007.

Relationship between expected tax expense and 

applicable tax expense 

The measurement of deferred taxes relating to domestic tax-

ation for 2008 is based on a combined total of 15.8 percent

for corporation tax and the German solidarity surcharge plus

trade tax approximating to 15.0 percent (total figure in 2007:

30.8 percent). 

WILO SE shows a tax expense of EUR 16,613 thousand (2007:

EUR 33,789 thousand) in the consolidated income statement

for 2008. This is EUR 2,441 thousand lower (2007: EUR

3,552 thousand lower) than the expected tax charge of 

EUR 19,054 thousand (2007: EUR 37,341 thousand)

obtained by applying the domestic rate of 30.8 percent

(2007: 39.5 percent) at Group level.

The difference is attributable to the following causes:

(8.11) Consolidated net income

EBIT is stated before net income from equity-accounted

investments, net financial income and income taxes. EBIT 

and consolidated net income are determined from the

income and expense items in the consolidated income

statement. Net interest income is included in the income

statement in net financial income.

(8.12) Earnings per share

Earnings per share is determined by dividing consolidated 

net income attributable to WILO SE shareholders by the

weighted average number of shares outstanding in the year

under review. Both basic and diluted earnings per share,

after deducting consolidated net income attributable to

minority interests, are EUR 4.57 (2007: EUR 6.15).

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Consolidated net income before taxes 61,843 94,535

Expected tax expense (19,054) (37,341)

Tax rate changes 335 654

Difference from foreign tax rates 6,456 8,708

Goodwill impairments and temporary 
differences arising on consolidation (2,790) (895)

Other permanent differences 371 (1,082)

Tax-free income 402 124

Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
on tax loss carryforwards (683) (122)

Withholding tax (1,369) (958)

Current tax of prior periods (131) (2,764)

Other (150) (113)

Applicable tax expense (16,613) (33,789)

Reconciliation statement

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 88,609 99,393

Net income from equity-accounted
investments (952) (1,036)

Net financial income (25,814) (3,822)

Consolidated net income before taxes 61,843 94,535

Income taxes (16,613) (33,789)

Consolidated net income after taxes 45,230 60,746

Consolidated net income

2008 2007

Consolidated net income 
after taxes (EUR ’000) attributable
to shareholders of WILO SE 44,446 59,977

Number of shares at 31.12. 9,720,500 9,728,000

Weighted average number of shares 9,720,358 9,745,647

Earnings per share (EUR) 4.57 6.15

Earnings per share

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Intangible assets 83 63 1,578 2,451

Property, plant and equipment 254 228 7,761 8,499

Financial assets 30 4 41 39

Inventories 4,127 4,245 54 73

Current accounts receivable 1,011 872 466 466

Non-current accounts receivable 292 378 0 0

5,797 5,790 9,900 11,528

Provisions for pensions 3,541 3,559 17 13

Other provisions 493 876 1,433 2,188

Advance payments received 72 155 0 0

Trade accounts payable 1,142 988 13 42

Liabilities to banks 0 0 3,441 4,126

Other liabilities 5,369 4,400 23 9

Tax loss carryforwards 385 214 0 0

11,002 10,192 4,927 6,378

Amount recognised 16,799 15,982 14,827 17,906

Analysis of deferred taxes by balance sheet item

Analysis of deferred taxes by balance sheet item

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised as follows in relation to temporary differences on individual balance sheet

items and to tax loss carryforwards:
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(9.) Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

(9.1) Intangible assets

Intangible assets changed as follows in 2007 and 2008:

Accumulated cost

1 January 2007 17,136 62,154 128 79,418

Currency translation (26) (1,394) 15 (1,405)

Additions 3,346 3,791 40 7,177

Disposals (275) (602) 0 (877)

Reclassifications 22 0 (22) 0

31 December 2007 20,203 63,949 161 84,313

1 January 2008 20,203 63,949 161 84,313

Currency translation (101) (2,551) 0 (2,652)

Additions 2,304 0 244 2,548

Disposals (439) (49) 0 (488)

Reclassifications 245 0 (245) 0

31 December 2008 22,212 61,349 160 83,721

Accumulated amortisation

1 January 2007 14,121 6,120 0 20,241

Currency translation 0 (272) 0 (272)

Amortisation 1,896 2,000 0 3,896

Disposals (273) 0 0 (273)

31 December 2007 15,744 7,848 0 23,592

1 January 2008 15,744 7,848 0 23,592

Currency translation (119) (508) 0 (627)

Amortisation 2,521 0 0 2,521

Disposals (436) 0 0 (436)

31 December 2008 17,710 7,340 0 25,050

Net book amount

1 January 2007 3,015 56,034 128 59,177

31 December 2007 4,459 56,101 161 60,721

1 January 2008 4,459 56,101 161 60,721

31 December 2008 4,502 54,009 160 58,671

Intangible assets

Patents and industrial Goodwill Advance pay- 
EUR ’000 property rights ments made Total

The additions to patents and industrial property rights mainly

relate to software. Software has a finite useful life and is

amortised over 3 years.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. Detailed

information about impairment testing is provided in Note 7.

No impairments of cash-generated units were recognised as

a result of goodwill impairment testing in 2008. Goodwill was

reallocated in 2008 following a redistribution of product groups

among divisions. A purchase price adjustment under an earn-

out clause agreed in 2006 on acquisition of Circulating Pumps

Ltd., King’s Lynn, Norfolk, UK, resulted in a EUR 49 thousand

reduction in goodwill on the business combination.

Goodwill allocated to divisions changed as follows in 2008:

Sub Tec 28,207 (6,319) (314) 0 21,574

Water Tec 20,168 (2,613) (767) 0 16,788

Circulators 7,251 0 (212) (49) 6,990

Pumps 475 8,932 (750) 0 8,657

Total 56,101 0 (2,043) (49) 54,009

Goodwill

Currency
EUR ’000 1.1.2008 Reclassifications translation Disposals 31.12.2008
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Property, plant and equipment includes EUR 7,432 thousand

in leased assets (2007: EUR 8,692 thousand). The leases 

concerned are classified as finance leases under IAS 17 and all

risks and rewards incident to ownership are consequently

transferred to the WILO Group. The net book amounts of the

finance leases are as follows:

The total future minimum lease payments and the derivation

of their present value are shown in the table below. The car-

rying amount of the corresponding liabilities at 31 December

2008 was EUR 5,779 thousand (2007: EUR 7,117 thousand).  

(9.3) Operating leases 

Total future minimum lease payments on operating leases

are shown in the table below.

The operating leases mainly relate to rented premises, fixtures

and fittings, tools and equipment. Minimum lease payments for

operating leases of EUR 14,192 thousand (2007: EUR 12,842

thousand) were recognised as expense in 2008.

(9.4) Equity-accounted investments and 

other financial assets

Equity-accounted investments and other financial assets

changed as follows in 2007 and 2008:

WILO SE established WILO Middle East FZE, Dubai, UAE, in 2008.

The shares in this wholly-owned subsidiary are included in

investments in subsidiaries. The equity-accounted investments

solely consist of shares in the jointly controlled entity WILO

Middle East LLC, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Detailed information is

provided in Note 4. There was no reclassification of available-

for-sale securities in 2008.
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(9.2) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment changed as follows in 2007 and 2008:

Accumulated cost

1 January 2007 86,527 111,176 142,386 8,789 348,878

Currency translation (1,267) (675) (1,351) (280) (3,573)

Additions 3,451 9,664 18,435 11,466 43,016

Changes in the composition of the consolidated group 0 95 403 0 498

Disposals (1,529) (5,719) (10,936) (1) (18,185)

Reclassifications 4,692 1,234 2,721 (8,647) 0

31 December 2007 91,874 115,775 151,658 11,327 370,634

1 January 2008 91,874 115,775 151,658 11,327 370,634

Currency translation (1,908) (1,955) (3,344) (54) (7,261)

Additions 7,700 8,588 17,355 16,116 49,759

Disposals (59) (1,962) (7,307) (776) (10,104)

Reclassifications 1,668 2,907 7,082 (11,657) 0

31 December 2008 99,275 123,353 165,444 14,956 403,028

Accumulated depreciation

1 January 2007 31,162 77,348 106,287 0 214,797

Currency translation (243) (288) (1,012) 0 (1,543)

Changes in the composition of the consolidated group 0 89 279 0 368

Depreciation 2,518 7,183 15,489 0 25,190

Reclassifications (151) (1) 152 0 0

Disposals (898) (5,121) (8,968) 0 (14,987)

31 December 2007 32,388 79,210 112,227 0 223,825

1 January 2008 32,388 79,210 112,227 0 223,825

Currency translation (528) (1,407) (2,428) 0 (4,363)

Depreciation 2,709 7,892 14,797 0 25,398

Reclassifications 7 (380) 373 0 0

Disposals (29) (1,462) (5,233) 0 (6,724)

31 December 2008 34,547 83,853 119,736 0 238,136

Net book amount

1 January 2007 55,365 33,828 36,099 8,789 134,081

31 December 2007 59,486 36,565 39,431 11,327 146,809

1 January 2008 59,486 36,565 39,431 11,327 146,809

31 December 2008 64,728 39,500 45,708 14,956 164,892

Property, plant and equipment

Land and  Plant and Fixtures and Advance payments
buildings machinery fittings, tools made and assets

EUR ’000 and equipment under construction Total

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Buildings 4,430 4,713

Plant and machinery 212 547

Fixtures & fittings, tools & equipment 2,790 3,432

Total 7,432 8,692

Finance leases: Net book amounts

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Total minimum lease payments 6,566 8,083

Interest portion (787) (966)

Present value 5,779 7,117

Not later than one year 1,987 2,266

One to five years 3,311 3,918

Later than five years 481 933

Minimum lease payments

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Total minimum lease payments 27,105 29,418

Not later than one year 9,242 8,566

One to five years 14,792 16,951

Later than five years 3,071 3,901

Operating leases

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Investments in subsidiaries 185 4

Equity-accounted investments 3,134 855

Investments in associates 46 46

Available-for-sale securities 13 14

Other loans 1,010 1,322

Reimbursement rights 3,343 3,336

Total 7,731 5,577

Financial assets
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(9.5) Inventories The total inventories figure consists of a gross carrying amount

of EUR 164,688 thousand (2007: EUR 170,422 thousand) less

writedowns of EUR 17,621 thousand (2007: EUR 16,759

thousand). EUR 862 thousand (2007: EUR 2,186 thousand)

in writedowns of inventories were recognised as an expense

in cost of sales in 2008. Inventories are not subject to any

restrictions beyond suppliers’ customary retention of title.

General valuation allowances

There are no restrictions on trade account receivables or other

assets.

(9.7) Cash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalents totalling EUR 45,452 thousand

(2007: EUR 25,298 thousand) mainly comprise cash and 

bank sight deposits. Cash and cash equivalents in the amount

of EUR 76 thousand (2007: EUR 108 thousand) are subject 

to restrictions. 

(9.8) Equity 

Share capital

The EUR 26 million share capital of WILO SE at the reporting

date is fully paid. The share capital is divided into 10 million

registered no-par shares with restricted transferability.

Retained earnings

In accordance with Section 150 (2) of the German Stock

Corporations Act (AktG), retained earnings include a legal

reserve corresponding to 10.0 percent of the subscribed

share capital of the Group parent, WILO SE.

Currency translation differences

Currency translation differences consist of all translation

differences arising on the translation of foreign-currency

financial statements of consolidated subsidiaries and entities

accounted for using the equity method plus translation dif-

ferences on certain intragroup foreign-currency loans and

receivables treated in accordance with IAS 21 as part of the

entity’s net investment in a foreign operation.

Treasury stock

279,500 (2007: 272 thousand) shares of treasury stock with 

a carrying amount of EUR 7,829 thousand (2007: EUR 7,892

thousand) were accounted for as a deduction from equity at 31

December 2008.

The number of shares outstanding changed as follows in the

period under review:

Minority interests

Minority interests are held by shareholders in Mather and Platt

Pumps Ltd., Pune, India (9.83 percent) and Mather and Platt Fire

Systems Ltd., Pune, India (44.52 percent).

Dividends

Dividends of EUR 38,079 thousand (2007: EUR 22,122

thousand) were paid in 2008. This corresponds to a dividend

per share of EUR 3.95 (2007: EUR 2.25).

Capital management

A business objective of the WILO Group is to sustain the

strongest possible equity base in order to foster confidence 

in all key stakeholders and promote the Group’s onward

development. A sound equity base is also a key factor in

ensuring a stable risk rating with lenders, which is important

for obtaining acceptable borrowing terms for the WILO Group.

Trade accounts receivable 200,041 197,803 2,238 203,285 199,830 3,455

Receivables from subsidiaries 928 928 0 0 0 0

Receivables from jointly  
controlled entities 67 67 0 2,506 2,506 0

Receivables from associates 560 560 0 300 300 0

Derivative financial instruments 1,514 1,514 0 1,164 1,108 56

Sundry other assets 24,328 23,099 1,229 24,017 22,741 1,276

Other assets 27,397 26,168 1,229 27,987 26,655 1,332

Total 227,438 223,971 3,467 231,272 226,485 4,787

Trade accounts receivable and other assets

31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Expected to be recovered in Expected to be recovered in

EUR ’000 Total < 1 year > 1 year Total < 1 year > 1 year

The Management Board estimates that the carrying amounts of

trade accounts receivable and other assets approximate to their

fair values. Valuation allowances on trade accounts receivable

are recognised in separate adjustment accounts. Specific and

general valuation allowances on trade accounts receivable

changed as follows in 2008 and 2007:

Specific valuation allowances

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Materials and supplies 42,284 45,135

Work in progress 17,490 15,241

Finished goods 87,035 93,059

Advance payments made 258 228

Total 147,067 153,663

Inventories

(9.6) Trade accounts receivable and other assets

Trade accounts receivable and other assets as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are shown in the table below:

EUR ’000 2008 2007

1 January 6,527 6,329

Changes in the composition of 
the consolidated group 0 17

Additions 731 1,154

Utilisation (1,194) (774)

Reversals (503) (199)

31 December 5,561 6,527

Specific valuation allowances

EUR ’000 2008 2007

1 January 2,323 2,155

Changes in the composition of 
the consolidated group 0 39

Additions 730 1,930

Utilisation (676) (787)

Reversals (275) (1,014)

31 December 2,102 2,323

General valuation allowances

Number of shares 2008 2007

1 January 9,728,000 9,827,000

Purchases of treasury stock (16,000) (115,000)

Disposals of treasury stock 8,500 16,000

31 December 9,720,500 9,728,000

Shares outstanding
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(9.9) Non-current liabilities

WILO SE issued EUR 67.5 million (USD 80 million) in senior

notes in a US private placement on 21 March 2006 consisting

of two tranches of USD 40 million each and maturing in 2013

and 2016 respectively. The notes carry a fixed rate of interest

over their entire term and the currency risk on them is cov-

ered by the use of derivative financial instruments. They

are not secured against real property or financial instru-

ments of the Company. The notes are subject to customary

covenants requiring the Company to maintain certain

financial ratios within set bands (ratio of assets pledged as

security to total assets, ratio of consolidated net debt to

consolidated EBITDA, and a capital requirement). WILO SE fully

complied with the covenants in 2008 and 2007. The notes are

also subject to a range of customary grounds for termination.

WILO issued EUR 25.0 million in notes in 2008 maturing in 2015

and repayable in instalments beginning 30 December 2009. The

notes are not secured against real property or financial instru-

ments of the Company. The notes are subject to customary

covenants requiring the Company to maintain certain financial

ratios within set bands (ratio of EBITDA to consolidated interest

expense, ratio of consolidated net debt to consolidated EBITDA,

and a capital requirement). WILO SE fully complied with the

covenants in 2008. The notes are also subject to a range of cus-

tomary grounds for termination.

Liabilities due to banks also include two loans (2007: three

loans) for a total of EUR 10.0 million (2007: EUR 20.0 million).

The outstanding liability at the reporting date was EUR 5.6 mil-

lion (2007: EUR 8.9 million). This is allocated between a current

and a non-current portion in accordance with the repayment

schedule. The current portion is included in current liabilities

due to banks. The non-current portion runs to between 2010

and 2013. The fixed annual rates of interest on these loans and

the notes range from 3.75 percent to 5.54 percent.

Two loans with an outstanding liability of EUR 5.6 million

on 31 December 2008 are secured as at 31 December 2008

by a EUR 10.0 million charge on the Company’s premises in

Heimgartenstrasse 1-3, Hof, Germany.

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities are due between

1 and 5 years.

The Management Board estimates that the carrying amounts 

of non-current trade accounts payable and other liabilities

approximate to their fair values. The fair value of non-current

liabilities, calculated by banks using net present value models,

was EUR 90,225 thousand (2007: EUR 67,630 thousand) at 

31 December 2008.
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The Management Board, the Supervisory Board and the share-

holders of WILO SE ensure a responsible dividend policy and

an appropriate return on invested capital to promote value

growth and safeguard the Company’s future.

The Management Board of WILO SE is kept informed about

the equity position of the WILO Group as part of monthly

reporting. The equity positions of consolidated subsidiaries

are also reviewed at regular intervals and on an ad hoc basis.

Measures are implemented as necessary, taking the tax and

legal frameworks into account, to sustain an appropriate

capital base that enables each subsidiary to attain its operat-

ing targets and the WILO Group to meet its strategic goals.

The total equity of the WILO Group at 31 December 2008 was

EUR 282,457 thousand (2007: EUR 297,690 thousand). 

This is mostly accounted for by EUR 280,620 thousand (2007:

EUR 284,772 thousand) in freely disposable retained earnings.

Retained earnings were reduced in 2008 by the EUR 8,443

thousand difference between the acquisition cost and the

carrying amount of additional shares acquired in Mather and

Platt Pumps Ltd. In the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, this amount is included in Group equity under other

changes. Detailed information on the acquisition of additional

shares in Mather and Platt Pumps Ltd. is provided in Note 4.

WILO SE is subject to capital requirements under covenants on

senior notes. The Company fully met the capital requirements

in 2007 and 2008. Detailed information about the senior notes

is provided in Note 9.9.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

The consolidated statement of changes in equity for the period 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008 is shown below:

Statement of changes in equity

Currency 
Share Retained translation Treasury Total equity Minority Total 

EUR ’000 capital earnings differences stock of WILO SE interests equity

1 January 2007 26,000 247,084 (3,649) (5,533) 263,902 1,609 265,511

Consolidated net income 2007 0 59,977 0 0 59,977 769 60,746

Dividends paid 0 (22,122) 0 0 (22,122) 0 (22,122)

Purchases of treasury stock 0 0 0 (2,945) (2,945) 0 (2,945)

Disposals of treasury stock 0 (176) 0 586 410 0 410

Currency translation differences 0 0 (3,846) 0 (3,846) (73) (3,919)

Other changes 0 9 0 0 9 0 9

31 December 2007 26,000 284,772 (7,495) (7,892) 295,385 2,305 297,690

1 January 2008 26,000 284,772 (7,495) (7,892) 295,385 2,305 297,690

Consolidated net income 2008 0 44,446 0 0 44,446 784 45,230

Dividends paid 0 (38,079) 0 0 (38,079) 0 (38,079)

Purchases of treasury stock 0 0 0 (453) (453) 0 (453)

Disposals of treasury stock 0 (275) 0 516 241 0 241

Currency translation differences 0 0 (9,263) 0 (9,263) (264) (9,527)

Other changes 0 (10,244) 0 0 (10,244) (2,401) (12,645)

31 December 2008 26,000 280,620 (16,758) (7,829) 282,033 424 282,457

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Liabilities due to banks 83,621 62,913

Of which: due to mature in
> 1 < 5 years 49,124 8,566
> 5 years 34,479 54,347

Trade accounts payable 8,408 5,299

Other liabilities 17,203 14,253

Of which: liabilities from 
derivative financial instruments
due to mature in > 1 < 5 years 9,017 0
due to mature in > 5 years 1,388 6,385

finance leases
due in > 1 < 5 years 3,311 3,918
due in > 5 years 481 933

Other liabilities 3,005 3,017

Deferred tax liabilities 14,827 17,906

Non-current liabilities
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The reduction in the actuarial losses and the EUR 2,138 thou-

sand actuarial gain recognised as at the reporting date are

mainly the result of an increase in the average discount rate

to 6.00 percent (2007: 5.35 percent).

4. The fair value of plan assets changed as follows:

Plan assets mainly consist of qualifying insurance policies with

a minimum return. Plan assets do not include any financial

instruments issued by the WILO Group or any property or oth-

er assets used by the WILO Group. The return on plan assets in

the year under review was EUR 65 thousand (2007: EUR 110

thousand). The Company does not expect any further pay-

ments into plan assets to be made in the current year.

5. The present value of defined benefit obligations and the

fair value of plan assets are reconciled with the provisions for

pensions as follows:
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Provisions for pensions

Provisions for pensions are recognised in connection with

defined benefit obligations under defined benefit plans for eli-

gible active and former employees of the WILO Group and their

surviving dependants. The benefit amount depends on coun-

try-specific circumstances and is generally based on years of

service and pay level. The provisions are recognised on the basis

of annual actuarial assessments of existing pension obligations.

Defined benefit obligations are recognised in accordance with

the actuarial assessment over the service life of the workforce

and are made up of service cost and interest cost. Pension

expenses are allocated to the relevant functional areas. Interest

cost is included in other net financial income. Actuarial gains

and losses exceeding 10.0 percent of the greater of the defined

benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets are amor-

tised over the average remaining working lives of participating

employees. WILO SE’s defined benefit plan was discontinued on

31 December 2005. A defined contribution plan has been set

up in its place in respect of WILO SE employees for whom a

pension obligation exists as of 1 January 2006. An expense of

EUR 749 thousand (2007: EUR 2,014 thousand) was recognised

in 2008 for defined contribution plans in the WILO Group.

Notes on provisions for pensions:

1. Provisions for pensions changed as follows in the year under

review:

Insurance has been taken out to cover provision-funded

pension obligations in the amount of EUR 3,343 thousand

(2007: EUR 3,336 thousand).

2. Pension expenses are made up as follows:

The actuarial gain of EUR 2,138 thousand (2007: actuarial

loss of EUR 494 thousand) as at 31 December 2008 is with-

in the 10 percent corridor. The previous year’s actuarial loss of

EUR 494 thousand was likewise in the EUR 3,853 thousand

10 percent corridor.

3. The present value of benefit obligations changed as fol-

lows in the year under review:

EUR ’000 2008 2007

1 January 35,513 36,889

Pension expenses 2,596 2,950

Pension payments (2,113) (2,020)

Transfers 0 (2,238)

Changes in the composition of the 
consolidated group, currency 
translation and other changes (60) (68)

31 December 35,936 35,513

Changes in provisions for pensions

EUR ’000 2008 2007

1 January 38,528 45,165

Current service cost 803 1,020

Interest cost 1,980 1,910

Past service cost 88 164

Decrease in actuarial losses (2,632) (5,437)

Pension payments (2,113) (2,020)

Transfers 0 (2,238)

Changes in the composition of the 
consolidated group, currency 
translation and other changes (330) (36)

31 December 36,324 38,528

Of which: funded 3,111 3,439

Of which: unfunded 33,213 35,089

Present value of defined benefit obligations

EUR ’000 2008 2007

Current service cost 803 1,020

Past service cost 35 13

Interest cost 1,980 1,910

Expected return on plan assets (154) (148)

Amortisation of actuarial (gains)/losses (68) 155

Total 2,596 2,950

Pension expenses

EUR ’000 2008 2007

1 January 3,114 2,955

Expected return 154 148

Actuarial losses (51) (1)

Changes in the composition of the 
consolidated group, currency 
translation and other changes (95) 12

31 December 3,122 3,114

Fair value of plan assets

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Present value of funded defined
benefit obligations 3,111 3,439

Less recognisable fair 
value of plan assets (3,111) (3,114)

0 325

Present value of unfunded 
defined benefit obligations 33,213 35,089

Past service cost 88 164

Actuarial gains/(losses) 2,138 (494)

35,439 35,084

Foreign plan assets 
included in assets 392 373

Other changes 105 56

Provisions for pensions 35,936 35,513

Reconciliation with provisions for pensions

EUR ’000 31.12.08 31.12.07 31.12.06 31.12.05 31.12.04

Present value of defined 
benefit obligations 36,324 38,528 45,165 47,625 36,472

Fair value of plan assets (3,122) (3,114) (2,955) (2,479) (2,356)

Deficit 33,202 35,414 42,210 45,146 34,116

Plan surplus/deficit

6. The present value of defined benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets on the last five reporting dates are shown below:

Provisions for similar obligations

Provisions for similar obligations amounted to EUR 6,772 thou-

sand (2007: EUR 6,810 thousand) in 2008. They include EUR

3,987 thousand (2007: EUR 4,480 thousand) in obligations

under a semi-retirement scheme operated by WILO SE. The EUR 

1,142 thousand (2007: EUR 1,464 thousand) fair value of plan 

assets at the reporting date is deducted from the amount 

of the provisions. The present value of the obligations

under the semi-retirement scheme at 31 December 2008

was determined using a discount rate of 6.25 percent

(2007: 5.35 percent).
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Guarantee provisions

Guarantee provisions are recognised on the basis of past experience and future plans.

EUR 3,804 thousand in provisions for taxes were reclassi-

fied in 2008 (2007: EUR 7,806 thousand) from provisions to

tax liabilities under other current liabilities. The figures for

the previous year have been restated accordingly. 

(10.) Consolidated cash flow statement

The consolidated cash flow statement presents cash flows

classified by operating, investing and financing activities.

Effects of exchange rate changes and changes in the composi-

tion of the consolidated group on cash and cash equivalents are

shown separately. Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

2008 consisted of EUR 45,452 thousand (2007: EUR 25,298

thousand) in cash and bank sight deposits, with EUR 76 thou-

sand (2007: EUR 108 thousand) subject to restrictions.

The consolidated cash flow statement presents cash flows

beginning with earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT). This

is identical to the income statement item of the same name

(see Note 8.11).

The effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

equivalents amounting to EUR 2,332 thousand relate to the

trans-lation of foreign-currency cash and cash equivalents

into reporting currency.

(11.) Segment reporting

In accordance with IAS 14 (Segment Reporting), the Group’s

activities are divided for segment reporting into geographical

regions (primary reporting format) and business segments

(secondary reporting format). This segmentation matches the

Group’s predominant sources of risks and returns, internal

organisational and management structure, and system of

reporting to the Management Board and Supervisory Board.

Segment figures by geographical region and business segment

are stated after consolidation of intra-segment and inter-seg-

ment transactions. Inter-segment sales are additionally shown.

In the analysis by geographical region, external sales are allo-

cated by customer home country. In the analysis by business

segment, the allocation is by customer use of WILO products.

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the

accounting policies used for the underlying consolidated finan-

cial statements. Figures for each segment are stated on a con-

solidated basis. Inter-segment sales comprise all sales between

segments. Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

include any amounts attributable to minority interests. The

assets allocated to geographical segments are total assets as

presented on the balance sheet less deferred tax assets. 

(9.10) Current liabilities

Current liabilities due to banks mainly consist of overdrafts,

short-term money market loans and the current portion of non-

current liabilities which will be repaid in 2009. Trade accounts

payable and other liabilities consist of current liabilities to sup-

pliers and running costs. Personnel liabilities include accumulat-

ed holiday pay, management bonuses and gratuities, outstand-

ing pay, employer’s liability insurance contributions and

severance pay. Sundry other liabilities include charges for tax

consulting services, commissions, del credere commissions and

other items.

EUR 3,804 thousand in provisions for taxes were reclassified 

in 2008 (2007: EUR 7,806 thousand) from provisions to tax 

liabilities under other current liabilities. The figures for the

previous year have been restated accordingly. Provisions for

taxes mostly relate to income taxes for the year under review

not paid during the year and income taxes for previous years as

a result of completed tax audits.

The Management Board estimates that the carrying amount of

current liabilities approximates to their fair value.

Guarantee provisions 3,694 (98) (312) (99) 238 3,468

Guarantee provisions

Currency
EUR ’000 1.1.2008 translations Utilisation Reversals Additions 31.12.2008

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Liabilities due to banks 19,460 26,656

Trade accounts payable 66,683 59,419

Other liabilities 87,157 75,381 

Of which:
Advance payments made 8,257 6,273

Notes payable 5,367 7,665

Liabilities to jointly controlled entities 1,502 0

Other tax liabilities 15,724 18,046

Personnel liabilities 18,815 18,143

Other social security liabilities 3,515 4,367

Liabilities from derivative financial instruments 12,213 733

Liabilities from finance leases 1,987 2,266

Sundry other liabilities 19,777 17,888

Current liabilities

Provisions

Guarantee provisions are recognised in respect of potential warranty claims on the basis of past experience and future plans.

The provision for incentives and rebates mainly relates to reimbursements to customers in 2008.

Guarantee 9,754 (480) (2,034) (382) 7,183 14,041

Incentives and rebates 17,218 (165) (17,192) (202) 20,767 20,426

Other provisions 6,816 (143) (4,819) (1,035) 6,772 7,591

Total 33,788 (788) (24,045) (1,619) 34,722 42,058

Current provisions

Currency
EUR ’000 1.1.2008 translations Utilisation Reversals Additions 31.12.2008
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(12.) Disclosures relating to financial instruments 

(12.1) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used to mitigate risk and

include interest rate and currency swaps, forward exchange

contracts, currency options, and commodity futures and

options. Measurement is performed using standard valuation

techniques based on market parameters specific to each

instrument. Fair value is determined using net present value

and option pricing models based where possible on quoted

market prices and interest rates at the reporting date. All

changes in fair value are recognised immediately in profit or

loss. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is deter-

mined using the mean spot exchange rate on the reporting

date and taking into account the forward premiums and dis-

counts for the remaining contract term with respect to the

agreed forward exchange rate. The fair value of interest rate

swaps is determined by discounting the expected future cash

flows with the market rates applicable for the remaining con-

tract term. Commodity futures are measured on the basis of

quoted market prices and forward premiums and discounts.

Commodity options are measured using option pricing mod-

els. Fair value measurement of derivative financial instruments

is performed by banks.

Net financial income includes gains of EUR 2,396 thousand

(2007: EUR 2,253 thousand) and losses of EUR 18,075 thou-

sand (2007: EUR 4,169 thousand) (see Note 8.9).
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The assets allocated to business segments are trade receiv-

ables, inventories and other assets, property, plant and equip-

ment and intangible assets to the extent that allocation is prac-

ticable. Segment liabilities include all debt capital except certain

tax liabilities, liabilities due to banks and deferred tax liabilities.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets. Transactions with trading

companies are effected at market prices and supplies to pro-

duction companies on a cost-plus basis.

The assets shown in segment information by geographical

region are reconciled with the assets presented on the bal-

ance sheet as shown below.

The liabilities shown in segment information by geographical

region are reconciled with the provisions and liabilities pre-

sented on the balance sheet as shown below.

The assets shown in segment information by business seg-

ment are reconciled with the assets presented on the bal-

ance sheet as shown below.

The figures for each segment are provided on pages 46 and 47.

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Assets 651,251 623,340

Deferred tax assets 16,799 15,982

Segment assets 668,050 639,322

Assets by geographical region

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Debt 263,881 226,351

Liabilities due to banks 103,081 89,569

Provisions for taxes 3,804 7,806

Deferred tax liabilities 14,827 17,906

Segment provisions and liabilities 385,593 341,632

Liabilities by geographical region

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Assets 581,203 574,101

Financial assets 7,731 5,577

Other assets and tax receivables 16,865 18,364

Cash and cash equivalents 45,452 25,298

Deferred tax assets 16,799 15,982

Segment assets 668,050 639,322

Assets by business segment

Forward exchange contracts 671 (149) 0 (177) 699 15,509 15,745

Interest rate and currency swaps 0 (3,016) (1,388) (6,001) 1,597 72,499 73,243

Forward exchange options 843 0 0 733 110 9,752 13,104

Commodity derivatives (12,213) (5,852) 0 (509) (17,556) 36,506 16,602

Derivative financial instruments

Fair value Notional amount
Time to maturity as of 31.12.2008 Previous Total

EUR ’000 1 year > 1 < 5 years > 5 years year change 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
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The EUR 13 thousand (2007: EUR 14 thousand) fair value of

other financial assets corresponds to quoted market prices at

the reporting date. The other assets item consists entirely of

derivative financial instruments. Measurement of their fair

value is described in Note 12.1.

(12.2) Disclosures on the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments

Financial instruments

The table below shows carrying amounts and fair values by category at 31 December 2008 and 2007 of financial instruments

accounted for at notional amount or amortised cost.

Financial instruments as at 31 December 2008

Non-current assets

Other financial assets – 1,010 1,010 231 231

Trade accounts receivable – 2,238 2,238 – –

Other assets – 1,178 1,178 0 0

Current assets

Trade accounts receivable – 197,803 197,803 – –

Other assets – 5,964 5,964 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 45,452 – –  – –

Carrying amount by category – 208,193 – 231 –

Fair value by category 45,452 – 208,193 – 231

Financial instruments as at 31 December 2007

Non-current assets

Other financial assets – 1,322 1,322 50 50

Trade accounts receivable – 3,455 3,455 – –

Other assets – 1,230 1,230 0 0

Current assets

Trade accounts receivable – 199,830 199,830 – –

Other assets – 10,966 10,966 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 25,298 – – – –

Carrying amount by category – 216,803 – 50 –

Fair value by category 25,298 – 216,803 – 50

Financial instruments

Notional amount Amortised cost
Loans and receivables Available for sale

EUR ’000 Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

The figure of EUR 231 thousand as at 31 December 2008

for other financial assets in the ‘Available for sale’ column

mostly relates to the wholly-owned subsidiary WILO Middle

East FZE, Dubai, UAE, established at the end of 2008. The

fair value of the investment in the subsidiary is measured at

cost. The other financial assets item as a whole is measured

at amortised cost; its fair value cannot be reliably determined

because no quoted or other market price is available for the

investments concerned. There are no plans for disposals of

these investments.

The table below shows carrying amounts and fair values by category at 31 December 2008 and 2007 of financial instruments

accounted for at fair value.

Financial instruments as at 31 December 2008

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 13 13 – –

Other assets 0 0 0 0

Current assets

Other assets 0 0 1,514 1,514

Carrying amount by category 13 – 1,514 –

Fair value by category – 13 – 1,514

Financial instruments as at 31 December 2007

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 14 14 – –

Other assets 0 0 56 56

Current assets

Other assets 0 0 1,108 1,108

Carrying amount by category 14 – 1,164 –

Fair value by category – 14 – 1,164

Financial instruments

Fair value
Available for sale Held for trading

EUR ’000 Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value



83

(13.) Risk management and derivative 

financial instruments

Risk management principles

The WILO Group faces market risk on its assets, liabilities and

planned transactions in connection with exchange rate, inter-

est rate and raw material price changes. Mitigating this risk

from operating and financial activities is the objective of finan-

cial risk management. This is done using derivative and non-

derivative financial instruments selected according to estimat-

ed risk exposure. Derivative financial instruments are solely

used to cover risk. They are not used for trading or other spec-

ulative purposes. Hedge accounting as defined in IFRS is not

applied. The general credit risk on these derivative financial

instruments is low because they are exclusively entered into

with banks that have an immaculate credit standing. 

General financial policy and strategy are determined by the

Management Board and monitored by the Supervisory Board.

Responsibility for implementing financial policy and strategy

lies with the Group Treasury. Further information on risk and

risk management is provided in the ‘Risk report’ and ‘Risks and

risk mitigation’ sections of the Group management report.
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(12.3) Net gains and losses by category

The table below shows net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss in 2008 and 2007 as a result of changes in fair value, impair-

ments, impairment reversals and the effects of currency translation on each category of financial assets and liabilities.

Financial liabilities

The table below shows carrying amounts and fair values by

category at 31 December 2008 and 2007 of financial liabili-

ties accounted for at amortised cost, at fair value or at the

net present value of minimum lease payments. Fair values of

non-current liabilities due to banks are determined by banks

using the net present value method. Fair values of other non-

current liabilities accounted for at amortised cost or as finance

lease liabilities approximate to their carrying amount as the lia-

bilities are not material in amount. The company estimates

that the fair value of all current liabilities corresponds to their

carrying amount.

Financial liabilities as at 31 December 2008

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 83,621 90,225 – – – –

Trade accounts payable 8,408 8,408 – – – –

Other liabilities 1,748 1,748 10,405 10,405 3,792 3,792

Current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 19,460 19,460 – – – –

Trade accounts payable 66,683 66,683 – – – –

Other liabilities*) 26,646 26,646 12,213 12,213 1,987 1,987

Carrying amount by category 206,566 – 22,618 – 5,779 –

Fair value by category – 213,170 – 22,618 – 5,779

Financial liabilities as at 31 December 2007

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 62,913 67,630 – – – –

Trade accounts payable 5,299 5,299 – – – –

Other liabilities 1,512 1,512 6,385 6,385 4,851 4,851

Current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 26,656 26,656 – – – –

Trade accounts payable 59,419 59,419 – – – –

Other liabilities*) 25,553 25,553 733 733 2,266 2,266

Carrying amount by category 181,352 – 7,118 – 7,117 –

Fair value by category – 186,069 – 7,118 – 7,117

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost Fair value Liabilities from 
finance lease

Other liabilities Held for trading
EUR ’000 Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

*) The other liabilities figure excludes tax, personnel and social security liabilities as these do not meet the definition of financial liabilities in IAS 32.

2008

Loans and receivables 208,193 208,193 – (1,461) 788 (142) (815)

Available for sale 244 244 0 0 0 0 0

Held for trading (21,104) (21,104) (15,679) – – n, a, (15,679)

Other liabilities (206,566) (213,170) – – – (2,644) (2,644)

Total (15,679) (1,461) 788 (2,786) (19,138)

2007

Loans and receivables 216,803 216,803 – (3,007) 1,097 (111) (2,021)

Available for sale 64 64 0 0 0 0 0

Held for trading (5,954) (5,954) (1,916) – – n, a, (1,916)

Other liabilities (181,352) (186,069) – – – 6,240 6,240

Total (1,916) (3,007) 1,097 6,129 2,303

Net gains/losses

EUR ’000 Effects of 
Carrying amount Fair value Changes in Impairment  currency Net gains/

Category at 31.12. at 31.12. fair value*) Impairments reversals translation losses

*) The changes in fair value consist of realised and unrealised gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities classified as financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. These amounts do not include interest income and expense.
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Interest rate risk

The WILO Group faces interest rate risk mainly on variable

interest liabilities due to banks and on invested cash and cash

equivalents. Both a rise and a fall in the interest rate curve

results in interest rate exposure. The WILO Group mitigates

adverse changes in value from unexpected interest rate

movements by using derivative financial instruments.

Interest rate risk as defined in IFRS 7 is considered to be low 

as most liabilities due to banks are subject to long-term fixed

rates of interest.

If the market interest rate had been 100 base points 

higher (lower) on 31 December 2008, net financial income

would increase (decrease) by EUR 178 thousand (EUR 199

thousand). The same change in the previous year would

increase (decrease) net financial income by EUR 430 thousand

(EUR 465 thousand). The change in net financial income in

this sensitivity analysis relates exclusively to measurement

of the interest component of interest rate and currency

swaps at the reporting date. The sensitivity analysis does not

indicate any material effect on net financial income relating to

non-derivative variable inter-est liabilities because most liabili-

ties due to banks carry long-term fixed interest rates. The

sensitivity analysis is based on the calculated change in the

fair value of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments

resulting from a specific change in the relevant risk variable

(the market interest rate) with all other determinants of fair

value at the reporting date held constant. The calculations

are performed using net present value and option pricing

models.

Raw material price risk

The WILO Group faces raw material price risk primarily from

price fluctuations on the world market for copper, alumini-

um and their alloys. It uses commodity derivatives to min-

imise this risk. Most of the Group’s copper and aluminium

needs for 2009 and 2010 are covered at fixed prices. 

On current information, WILO Group earnings would be affected

by price fluctuations on the world market for copper, aluminium

and their alloys from 2011.

If the prices of copper and aluminium had been 10 percent

higher (lower) on 31 December 2008, net financial income

would increase (decrease) by EUR 1,846 thousand (2007:

EUR 1,738 thousand). The change in net financial income in

this sensi-tivity analysis relates exclusively to measurement of

commodity derivatives at the reporting date. The sensitivity

analysis is based on the calculated change in the fair value 

of derivative financial instruments resulting from a specific

change in the relevant risk variable (raw material prices) with

all other determinants of fair value at the reporting date held

constant. The calculations are performed using net present

value and option pricing models.

Credit risk

Customer credit risk is addressed with a uniform and effec-

tive Group-wide system for consistent receivables manage-

ment and monitoring of payment behaviour. Dependency

on individual customers is limited because WILO does not

generate more than 10 percent of total net sales with any

one customer. It is not possible to predict how the economic

crisis will affect customer payment behaviour. Maximum

credit risk corresponds to the carrying amount of financial

instruments. The table below shows maximum credit risk 

on and the age structure of financial instruments classified 

as loans and receivables as at 31 December 2008 and 2007.

Current and non-current items are combined. The other

financial assets item relates exclusively to long-term loans.

Trade accounts receivable are secured with retentions of

title. The fair value of these retentions of title corresponds

to the carrying amount of trade accounts receivable.

The carrying amount of trade accounts receivable before 
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Market risk

Currency risk

The WILO Group faces currency risk primarily in its financing

and operating activities. Currency risk in financing activities

relates to foreign-currency borrowing from external lenders

and foreign-currency lending to finance Group companies.

Currency risk in operating activities mainly relates to intra-

group transactions. Currency risk exposure on such transac-

tions is closed by the use of same-currency offsetting trans-

actions and derivative financial instruments. The currency

risk on operating business between Group companies and

external customers and suppliers is estimated to be low as

most such business is transacted in the functional currency

of the companies concerned. As at 31 December 2008, for-

eign-currency trade accounts receivable amounted to EUR

3,755 thousand (2007: EUR 5,655 thousand) and foreign-

currency trade accounts payable to EUR 677 thousand

(2007: EUR 1,337 thousand), mostly in US dollars. Foreign-

currency non-current liabilities due to banks as at 31 December

2008 came to EUR 56,559 thousand (2007: EUR 55,253 thou-

sand). The entire amount (2007: EUR 54,347 thousand) of

this figure was accounted for by the 2006 USD 80.0 million

senior notes issue.

At 31 December 2008, a 10 percent increase (decrease) in

the euro against all foreign currencies would have resulted in

a EUR 308 thousand decrease (increase) in earnings before

interest and taxes (EBIT) and a EUR 1,535 thousand increase

(EUR 682 thousand decrease) in net financial income.

At 31 December 2007, a 10 percent increase (decrease) in the

euro against all foreign currencies would have resulted in a 

EUR 431 thousand decrease (increase) in EBIT and a EUR

2,038 thousand increase (EUR 1,343 thousand decrease) in

net financial income.

The change in EBIT in this sensitivity analysis is the result of

translating foreign-currency receivables and liabilities into

reporting currency. The change in net financial income in this

sensitivity analysis is the sum of two factors: Firstly, a 10 per-

cent increase (decrease) in the euro would have resulted in a

positive (negative) translation difference on foreign-currency

non-current liabilities due to banks in the amount of EUR

5,656 thousand in 2008 and EUR 5,166 thousand in 2007.

Secondly, a 10 percent increase (decrease) in the euro would

have resulted in fair value changes on interest rate and currency

swaps, forward exchange contracts and currency options in

the amount of minus EUR 4,121 thousand (plus EUR 4,974

thousand) in 2008 and minus EUR 3,128 thousand (plus EUR

3,823 thousand) in 2007. The sensitivity analysis is based on

the calculated change in the fair value of derivative and non-

derivative financial instruments resulting from a specific

change in the relevant risk variable (the exchange rate) with

all other determinants of fair value at the reporting date held

constant. The calculations are performed using net present

value and option pricing models. The changes in EBIT and in

net financial income in the sensitivity analysis mostly relate to

receivables, payables and derivative financial instruments in US

dollars. Other foreign currencies are of secondary importance

in the sensitivity analysis.
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(14.) Other disclosures

(14.1) Waiver of disclosure

The following Group companies have made use of the 

waiver of disclosure under Section 264 (3) of the German

Commercial Code (HGB): WILO EMU GmbH, Hof, Germany,

WILO-Mitarbeiter-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Dortmund,

Germany and WILO Nord Amerika GmbH, Dortmund, Germany.

(14.2) Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations

No provisions have been recognised for the following con-

tingent liabilities (stated at notional amount) because an

outflow of resources is not estimated to be probable: 

valuation allowances is EUR 207,704 thousand (2007: 

EUR 212,135 thousand). At 31 December 2008, EUR 5,561

thousand (2007: EUR 6,527 thousand) in specific valuation

allowances was recognised on EUR 10,250 thousand (2007:

EUR 8,703 thousand) in past-due trade accounts receivable.

A further EUR 2,102 thousand (2007: EUR 2,323 thousand)

in general valuation allowances on trade accounts receiv-

able was recognised at the reporting date for country-

specific credit risk. The valuation allowances were recognised

for a range of usual reasons.

In addition to the above, there is maximum credit risk of EUR

244 thousand (2007: EUR 64 thousand) on available-for-sale

financial assets and of EUR 1,514 thousand (2007: EUR 1,164

thousand) on financial assets held for trading, which consist

exclusively of derivative financial instruments.

With regard to other financial assets and other assets that are

neither impaired nor past due, there are no indications as at the

reporting date of debtors failing to make payment. There were

no impairments of other financial assets or other assets at

either 31 December 2008 or 31 December 2007.

Liquidity risk

WILO SE aims to ensure cost-effective coverage of financing

needs for the operating activities of Group companies at all

times and deploys a range of financial market instruments to

this end. There are also cash pooling and financing arrange-

ments with Group companies where appropriate and permit-

ted under local commercial and tax law. As a result of avail-

able credit facilities and refinancing options, the WILO Group

is not exposed to material liquidity risk.

The table on the right shows the remaining contractual

maturities and corresponding cash outflows, including

estimated interest payments, for financial liabilities as at

31 December 2008 and 2007.

31 December 2008

Other financial assets 1,010 1,010 0 0 0 0 0

Trade accounts receivable 200,041 165,652 15,606 5,588 2,792 4,804 3,012

Other assets*) 7,142 7,142 0 0 0 0 0

31 December 2007

Other financial assets 1,322 1,322 0 0 0 0 0

Trade accounts receivable 203,285 157,496 21,792 7,087 3,569 6,223 7,265

Other assets*) 12,196 10,371 63 183 299 1,280 0

Credit risk

Carrying Of which: neither Of which: past due in stated time band (days) 
amount past due nor but not yet impaired

impaired
EUR ’000 up to  30 31–60 61–90 91–180 over  180

*) The other assets are shown without derivative financial instruments.

31 December 2008

Liabilities due to banks

Non-current 83,621 (106,487) (4,668) (64,280) (37,539)

Current 19,460 (19,460) (19,460) 0 0

Trade accounts payable 75,091 (75,091) (66,683) (8,408) 0

Finance lease liabilities 5,779 (6,566) (2,221) (3,845) (500)

Other liabilities*) 28,394 (28,394) (26,646) (1,748) 0

Derivative financial instruments 22,618 (18,809) (11,627) (6,673) (509)

Total 234,963 (254,807) (131,305) (84,954) (38,548)

31 December 2007

Liabilities due to banks

Non-current 62,913 (84,242) (3,293) (20,716) (60,233)

Current 26,656 (26,656) (26,656) 0 0

Trade accounts payable 64,718 (64,718) (59,419) (5,299) 0

Finance lease liabilities 7,117 (8,083) (2,571) (4,508) (1,004)

Other liabilities*) 27,065 (27,065) (25,553) (1,512) 0

Derivative financial instruments 7,118 (2,738) (149) 2,336 (4,925)

Total 195,587 (213,502) (117,641) (29,699) (66,162)

Liquidity risk

Remaining contractual maturity
Carrying Agreed

EUR ’000 amount payments < 1 year > 1 < 5 years > 5 years

*) The other liabilities figure excludes tax, personnel and social security liabilities.

EUR ’000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Contingent liabilities

in respect of financial 
guarantees 1,100 1,107

in respect of warranty 
guarantees 5,758 4,705

Total 6,858 5,812

Contingent liabilities
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A shareholder owns a heating and air-conditioning installation

company which purchases pumps in quantities commensurate

to its size from the reporting entity. The same company installs

and maintains the heating and air-conditioning systems of 

the reporting entity. These services are remunerated at 

market prices. Trade accounts receivable and receivables from

financing activities in respect of the heating and air-condi-

tioning installation company amounted to zero at the reporting

date (2007: EUR 434 thousand). Payables to the heating and

air-conditioning installation company amounted to EUR 332

thousand at the reporting date (2007: EUR 0). Sales of EUR 61

thousand (2007: EUR 144 thousand) were transacted with the

heating and air-conditioning installation company in 2008.

Approved consulting agreements exist with members of the

Supervisory Board. Total remuneration under these agreements

for 2008 amounted to EUR 571 thousand (2007: EUR 280

thousand), of which EUR 209 thousand (2007: EUR 280 thou-

sand) had not yet been paid as at 31 December 2008.

There are also leases relating to land and buildings that are

directly or indirectly owned by shareholders. Total lease pay-

ments of EUR 187 thousand (2007: EUR 185 thousand) 

were made to shareholders in 2008. The agreed rent corre-

sponds to the market rate. A lease agreement also exists in

respect of a building owned by a company in which a family

member of a former Management Board member and one

shareholder have an ownership interest. EUR 414 thousand

(2007: EUR 414 thousand) in rental payments were made in

2008. The resulting finance lease liabilities at the reporting

date amounted to EUR 1,821 thousand (2007: EUR 2,050

thousand). A financial guarantee of EUR 1,100 thousand was

provided to the Company in 2005 and remained in existence

in the year under review.

In the reporting year, a consulting agreement was concluded

with a member of the founder’s family in the amount of

EUR 70 thousand (2007: EUR 70 thousand), of which EUR

45 thousand had not yet been paid as at 31 December 2008

(EUR 70 thousand as at 31 December 2007).

(14.7) Remuneration of the Management Board and the

Supervisory Board

The total remuneration of the Management Board amounted to

EUR 1.8 million in 2008 (2007: EUR 2.3 million). EUR 0.8 million

(2007: EUR 1.1 million) of this total relates to fixed remunera-

tion and EUR 1.0 million (2007: EUR 1.2 million) to variable

remuneration, of which EUR 0.5 million (2007: EUR 0.3 million)

is accounted for as a provision and will not be paid out until the

consolidated financial statements are endorsed in the next

financial year. The total remuneration paid to former members

of the Management Board amounted to EUR 0.8 million in 2008

(2007: EUR 0.7 million). The remuneration of the Supervisory

Board was EUR 0.1 million (2007: EUR 0.1 million). On the

reporting date, a pension provision of EUR 6.0 million (2007:

EUR 6.6 million) was recognised in respect of former members

of Company boards.
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Contingent liabilities on financial and warranty guarantees

existed at 31 December 2008 in respect of contracts with a

notional value of EUR 1,656 thousand (2007: EUR 122 thou-

sand) and a remaining agreed term of less than one year, while

obligations in a notional amount of EUR 955 thousand (2007:

EUR 1,698 thousand) existed in respect of contracts with a

remaining agreed term of more than one year. There are also

obligations in a notional amount of EUR 4,247 thousand

(2007: EUR 3,992 thousand) in respect of indefinite financial

and warranty guarantees. Purchase commitments for planned

capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment amount

to EUR 11,091 thousand (2007: EUR 10,882 thousand). 

It is not practicable to disclose an estimate of the financial

effect of contingent liabilities, an indication of the uncer-

tainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflow, or

the possibility of any reimbursement.

(14.3) Average number of employees over the year

The average number of employees over the year was as follows: 

The average number of employees over the year increased by

3.5 percent compared with 2007 as the Group responded to

regionally varying growth in demand with an expansion of its

workforce. Personnel expenses amounted to EUR 233.4 mil-

lion (2007: EUR 225.3 million) in 2008.

(14.4) Proposal for the appropriation of profits

The Management Board will propose a resolution at the WILO

SE shareholders’ meeting on 4 April 2009 to carry forward the

net profit of WILO SE to new account.

(14.5) Events after the balance sheet date

The Management Board of WILO SE approved the consolidated

financial statements for submission to the Supervisory Board

on 16 February 2009. It is the responsibility of the Supervisory

Board to examine the consolidated financial statements and to

state whether it endorses them.

(14.6) Related party disclosures

All business transactions consisting of the supply of products

and the provision of services to non-consolidated subsidiaries,

jointly controlled entities and associates of WILO SE are effect-

ed at market prices. Receivables due from these companies

come to EUR 1,555 thousand (2007: EUR 2,806 thousand).

Payables due to these companies amount to EUR 1,509

thousand (2007: EUR 0). Sales and services charged on to

these companies amounted to EUR 4,432 thousand in 2008

(2007: EUR 1,555 thousand).

On 31 December 2008, 51,000 shares in WILO SE were owned

by members of the Supervisory Board. In 2008, members of 

the Management Board purchased 8,500 shares from WILO SE

for a price of EUR 241 thousand and sold 16,000 shares to

WILO SE for a price of EUR 453 thousand. On 31 December

2008, 29,500 shares in WILO SE were owned by members of

the Management Board. As a result of these transactions,

the Company reports 279,500 shares as treasury stock with 

a carrying value of EUR 7,829 thousand at 31 December 2008.

The current repurchase obligation for shares owned by mem-

bers of the Supervisory Board and the Management Board on

31 December 2008 is recognised as a liability under current

other liabilities.

2008 2007

Production 3,128 3,063

Sales and administration 2,896 2,758

Total 6,024 5,821

Germany 1,892 1,871

Other countries 4,132 3,950

Total 6,024 5,821

Employees
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(14.8) Boards

Dr. h.c. Jochen Opländer is Honorary Chairman of the
Supervisory Board. 

Dortmund, Germany, 16 February 2009

The Management Board

Supervisory Board

Dr. Heinz-Gerd Stein
Dinslaken, Germany
Chairman 

Prof. Dr. Hans-Jörg Bullinger
Stuttgart, Germany

Hans-Joachim Früh
Düsseldorf, Germany

Karl Mego
Pressbaum, Austria
from 24 July 2008

Jan Opländer
Dortmund, Germany

Dieter Ortwein
Dortmund, Germany
until 23 July 2008

Heinz-Peter Schmitz
Dortmund, Germany

Management Board

Dr. Thomas Schweisfurth 
Dortmund, Germany
Spokesman of the Management Board 
from 1 January 2008

Oliver Hermes
Essen, Germany

Dr. Holger Krasmann 
Dortmund, Germany
from 10 April 2008

Jérôme Perrod 
Boulogne, France
until 30 April 2008

Dr. Thomas Schweisfurth Oliver Hermes Dr. Holger Krasmann 
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Shareholdings of WILO SE at 31 December 2008

Shareholding (%)

Allied Centrifugal Pumps Pvt. Ltd. Kolkata, India 100.00

Bombas WILO-SALMSON Portugal – Sistemas Hidráulicos, Lda. Porto, Portugal 100.00

CCD Pumps Ltd. London, United Kingdom 100.00

Circulating Pumps Ltd. King’s Lynn, United Kingdom 100.00

EMB Pumpen AG Rheinfelden, Switzerland 100.00

EMU I.D.F. S.A.R.L. Ste. Geneviève-des-Bois, France **) 50.00

FLOM S.A.R.L. Couzon au Mont d’Or, France 100.00

Mather and Platt Fire Systems Ltd. Pune, India 55.48

Mather and Platt Pumps Ltd. Pune, India 90.17

POMPES SALMSON S.A.S. Chatou, France 100.00

Rotaqua GmbH Rheinfelden, Switzerland 100.00

S.E.S.E.M. S.A.S. Saint-Denis, France 100.00

SALMSON Argentina S.A. Buenos Aires, Argentina 100.00

SALMSON Italia s.r.l. Modena, Italy 100.00

SALMSON South Africa Ltd. Johannesburg, South Africa 100.00

STEMMA S.R.L. Trissino, Italy 100.00

WILO (UK) Ltd. Burton-on-Trent, United Kingdom 100.00

WILO Adriatic d.o.o. Ljubljana, Slovenia 100.00

WILO Baltic SIA Riga, Latvia 100.00

WILO Bel o.o.o. Minsk, Belarus 100.00

WILO Beograd d.o.o. Belgrade, Serbia 100.00

WILO Bulgaria EOOD Sofia, Bulgaria 100.00

WILO Canada Inc. Calgary, Canada 100.00

WILO Caspian LLC Baku, Azerbaijan 100.00

WILO Central Asia TOO Almaty, Kazakhstan 100.00

WILO China Ltd. Beijing, China 100.00

WILO Danmark A/S Karlslunde, Denmark 100.00

WILO Eesti OÜ Tallinn, Estonia *) 100.00

WILO ELEC CO. Ltd. Qinhuangdao, China 100.00

WILO EMU Anlagenbau GmbH Roth, Germany 100.00

WILO EMU GmbH Hof, Germany 100.00

WILO EMUPORT GmbH Minden, Germany 100.00

WILO Engineering Ltd. Limerick, Ireland 100.00

WILO Finland OY Espoo, Finland 100.00

WILO France S.A.S. Bois d’Arcy, France 100.00

Shareholdings of WILO SE

Shareholding (%)

WILO Hellas A.B.E.E. Athens, Greece 100.00

WILO Hrvatska d.o.o. Zagreb, Croatia 100.00

WILO Ibérica S.A. Alcalá de Henares, Spain 100.00

WILO Industriebeteiligungen GmbH Dortmund, Germany 100.00

WILO Intec S.A.S. Aubigny, France 100.00

WILO Italia s.r.l. Peschiera Borromeo (Milan), Italy 100.00

WILO Lietuva UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 100.00

WILO Magyarország Kft. Törökbálint, Hungary 100.00

WILO Middle East FZE Dubai, United Arab Emirates *) 100.00

WILO Middle East LLC Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ***) 50.00

WILO N.V./S.A. Ganshoren (Brussels), Belgium 100.00

WILO Nederland b.v. Beverwijk, Netherlands 100.00

WILO Nord Amerika GmbH Dortmund, Germany 100.00

WILO Norge AS Larvik, Norway 100.00

WILO Polska Sp.z.o.o. Raszyn (Warsaw), Poland 100.00

WILO Pompa Sistemleri San. Ve Tic. A.S. Istanbul, Turkey 100.00

WILO Praha s.r.o. Prague, Czech Republic 100.00

WILO Pumpen Österreich GmbH Vienna, Austria 100.00

WILO Pumps Ltd. Gimhae, Korea 100.00

WILO Pumps Ltd. Limerick, Ireland 100.00

WILO Romania s.r.l. Bucharest, Romania 100.00

WILO Rus o.o.o. Moscow, Russia 100.00

WILO Slovakia s.r.o. Bratislava, Slovakia 100.00

WILO Sverige AB Växjö, Sweden 100.00

WILO Ukrainia t.o.w. Kiev, Ukraine 100.00

WILO USA LLC Chicago, USA 100.00

WILO-EMU Taiwan Co. Ltd. Taipeh, Taiwan 100.00

WILO-EMU USA LLC Thomasville, USA 100.00

WILO-Mitarbeiter-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Dortmund, Germany 100.00

WILO-SALMSON France S.A.S. Chatou, France 100.00

WILO-SALMSON Lebanon S.A.R.L. Beirut, Lebanon 100.00

*) Company not included in the 2008 consolidated financial statements.
**) Associated company accounted for at cost.
***) Jointly controlled entity accounted for using the equity method.

Shareholdings of WILO SE



9594

Auditor’s report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared

by the WILO SE, Dortmund – consisting of the balance sheet,

the income statement, the statement of recognised income

and expenses, the cash flow statement and the notes to the

consolidated financial statements – and the group manage-

ment report for the financial year from 1 January 2008 to 31

December 2008. The preparation of the consolidated financial

statements and the group management report in accordance

with IFRS, as adopted by the European Union, and the additional

regulations of the German Commercial Code (HGB) pursuant

to section 315a paragraph 1 HGB are the responsibility of the

parent company’s management. Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on

the group management report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 

state ments in accordance with section 317 of the German

Commercial Code (HGB) under consideration of the German

generally accepted auditing standards as determined by the

German Institute of Chartered Accountants (Institut der

Wirtschaftsprüfer, IDW). Those standards require that we plan

and conduct the audit in such a manner that misstatements

and violations that materially affect the presentation of the

net assets, financial position and results of operations in the

consolidated financial statements in accordance with the

applicable financial reporting framework and in the group

management report are detected with reasonable assurance.

Knowledge of the Group's business activities, the economic

and legal frameworks in which it operates and expectations

with regard to possible misstatements are taken into account

in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness

of the accounting-related internal control system and the

evidence supporting the disclosures made in the consolidated

financial statements and the group management report are

examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of

the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial

statements of consolidated entities, the determination of

entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and

consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by

the company's legal representatives, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements

and group management report. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit did not give rise to any objections.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli-

dated financial statements comply with IFRS accounting

require ments as adopted by the European Union, and the

supplementary regulations to be applied according to section

315a, paragraph 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and

they give a true and fair view of the Group's net assets, financial

position and results of operations in accordance with these

requirements. The group management report is consistent

with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole

provides a suitable view of the Group's position and suitably

presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Essen, 17 February 2009

KPMG AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(former 

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft

Aktiengesellschaft

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft)

Beumer Huperz

Auditor Auditor
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The Supervisory Board oversaw the work of the Management

Board on an ongoing basis while providing intensive support

and advice throughout the 2008 financial year. At regular

meetings, the Supervisory Board was kept fully informed about

the development of the WILO Group’s business and all factors

affecting it. Members of the Supervisory Board also received

regular written reports from the Management Board on the

current business situation and on current and planned Group

activities. Action requiring consent from the Supervisory Board

was appraised in close detail.

Various key issues were dealt with at ordinary meetings of the

Supervisory Board in 2008. The meeting of 10 April 2008 cen-

tred on the 2007 annual financial statements. At the meeting

of 26 June 2008, the Management Board and Supervisory

Board conferred in depth among other things on the medium-

term plan presented by the Management Board for the period

2009 to 2011. The project to transform WILO AG into a

European Company (SE) was also examined in detail. A further

agenda item was the strategic direction of the WILO Group’s

Indian subsidiaries. The Management Board additionally

reported on the dissolution of the joint venture WILO Middle

East Co. LLC based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. In October 2008,

the Supervisory Board comprehensively addressed the strate-

gic direction of the WILO Group. Finally, in December 2008, the

Supervisory Board adopted the budget for 2009. At the same

meeting, the Supervisory Board returned to the regional activi-

ties in India, the United Kingdom and North America.

The Supervisory Board met without the Management Board in

March 2008 for routine discussion of the efficiency of the

Supervisory Board in its work and to deal with personnel matters.

Throughout the year, the Supervisory Board supported the

onward development of the WILO Group’s business policies

and strategic direction, notably with regard to new manufac-

turing technologies, the alignment of the product portfolio

and human resources planning.

Both the 2008 consolidated financial statements presented

with the annual report and the separate financial statements of

WILO SE, each comprising an income statement, balance sheet,

management report and notes to the financial statements, have

been audited and issued with an unqualified audit opinion by

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft (formerly KPMG

Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft Wirt-

schaftsprüfungsgesellschaft), Essen, Germany.

These documents were submitted to the Supervisory Board

for examination and subjected to comprehensive scrutiny.

The auditors took part in the meeting on the consolidated

financial statements on 4 April 2009 in order to report on

key audit findings and provide supplementary information.

The Audit Committee previously undertook preparatory

work for the Supervisory Board and also appraised the out-

comes of the risk management system.

After thorough examination, the Supervisory Board endorses

the opinion given by the Group auditors of the consolidated

financial statements. The Supervisory Board also approves

the proposal for appropriation of the net profit of WILO SE.

There were a number of changes in the composition of the

Supervisory Board and the Management Board during the

year under review. Following the meeting of 26 June 2008,

the shareholders’ meeting approved the transformation of

WILO AG into an SE. This brought to an end the terms of

Report of the Supervisory Board

office of all members of the Supervisory Board. The entire

Supervisory Board was therefore newly elected by resolution 

of the shareholders’ meeting of 26 June 2008. At the same

juncture, Dieter Ortwein stepped down as employee repre-

sentative to the Supervisory Board and Karl Mego was appoint-

ed as employee representative to the Supervisory Board in his

place. The Supervisory Board thanked Dieter Ortwein for his

years of loyal and constructive service. At the end of the

ordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board of 10 April 2008,

Jérôme Perrod stepped down from the Management Board 

of the Company at his own wish with effect from midnight 

on 30 April 2008. Dr. Holger Krasmann was appointed mem-

ber of the Management Board in his place. The Supervisory

Board thanked Jérôme Perrod for his dedicated and success-

ful work and years of loyal service. The transformation of

WILO AG into an SE likewise terminated the terms of office 

of the members of the Management Board. The Supervisory

Board reappointed the Management Board with its composi-

tion unchanged by resolution of 26 June 2008.

In the interests of good, responsible corporate governance,

WILO SE and its boards have voluntarily complied with the

German Corporate Governance Code dated 14 June 2007 and

voluntarily comply with the version dated 6 June 2008 since

its entry into force. There are departures from the code relat-

ing to the specific nature of our company (primarily as to the

preparation and holding of shareholders’ meetings, the publi-

cation of reports, and Supervisory Board committees) as well

as to the individual disclosure of Management Board and

Supervisory Board remuneration, in which connection we

apply the statutory rules. Detailed information on departures

from the Code have once again been compiled in full for

banks and institutional counterparties in a declaration of

conformity in line with Section 161 of the German Stock

Corporations Act.

Subject to the above qualification, WILO SE intends to contin-

ue complying with the recommendations of the Government

Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code dated

6 June 2008.

2008 was a successful year for WILO in a difficult economic cli-

mate. The Supervisory Board thanks the Management Board

and workforce of the WILO Group for their commitment and

hard work. Once again, they have contributed to a very suc-

cessful year for WILO.

Dortmund, April 2009

The Supervisory Board

Dr. Heinz-Gerd Stein

Chairman 
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High efficiency: Efficiency is defined as the ratio between

work performed and energy expended. High efficiency

means achieving maximum performance with lowest possi-

ble energy input in order to conserve resources and reduce

environmental impact. One prime example is Wilo-Stratos,

the world’s first high-efficiency pump for heating and air

conditioning systems. It achieves excellent efficiencies and

can save up to 80 percent electricity compared with con-

stant-speed heating pumps.

Hydrodynamics (also called fluid dynamics): A branch of

fluid mechanics concerned with moving liquids and gases.

For example, it examines laminar and turbulent flows in

open and closed channels as well as movements and forces 

in pressurised piping systems.

IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards):

Collective term for all standards and interpretations rele-

vant for international consolidated financial reporting by 

the WILO Group: IAS (International Accounting Standards)

and IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards)

together with interpretations issued by the SIC (Standing

Interpretations Committee) and the IFRIC (International

Reporting Interpretations Committee).

LCC (life-cycle costs): Sum of all costs incurred by a product

throughout its life cycle. The life cycle includes all stages, from

procurement, installation, operation and maintenance right

through to decommissioning and disposal.

NPSH value: Net positive suction head: term used in the USA.

OEM (original equipment manufacturer): Manufacturers

who fit their products with our pumps (e.g. machine tools,

wall heaters or air conditioners). 

Pressure sewer systems: A cost-effective method of

sewage disposal over large distances in which effluent is

transported through a small-sized pressurised pipe into 

the public sewer network or directly to the sewage 

treatment plant.

ROCE: Return on capital employed.

Simultaneous engineering: Design approach aimed at

shortening the development time of new products, avoid-

ing subsequent product changes and improving coordina-

tion between development and production. The basic idea

is to integrate consecutive work steps. As soon as enough

information has been developed in one step, the next step

is begun in parallel.

Solids separation system: Latest WILO technology. Filtering

out of solids ahead of the pump and immediate backwash-

ing increases efficiency due to minimised passage. Clogging

of the hydraulics is also effectively avoided by means of

pre-filtering. 

UL (Underwriters Laboratories) certification: Organisation

founded in the USA in 1894 for testing and certifying prod-

ucts and their safety. The UL symbol is found on many prod-

ucts, particularly electrical equipment.

Glossary

Axial split-case pumps: Pumps with an axially split volute

casing. Used for applications requiring high delivery rates in

circulation systems or for water supply, mainly in Asian coun-

tries or when plants are built according to US specifications. 

Booster sets: Used for water supply in buildings in which the

pressure of the municipal water supply is not enough to sup-

ply all consumers/storeys with water. 

Bus technology: A technology in which several network par-

ticipants communicate via a shared communication medium. 

CIP (continuous improvement process): Constant im-

provement of product, process and service quality through

cooperation in small steps. CIP is a basic principle of quali-

ty management and an indispensable part of ISO 9001. 

CSA (Canadian Standards Association): A non-govern-

mental organisation that establishes standards and tests

and certifies products in terms of their safety. It was founded

in Canada in 1919 and now operates internationally. The

CSA issues its own mark of conformity which is particularly

important in the USA and Canada. 

Decentralised pump system: Latest WILO technology.

Compared with conventional systems in which one heating

pump is installed centrally in the boiler room, all consumers/

storeys are fitted with their own pumps in the living area.

This enables the individual adjustment of the pumps for

maximum heating comfort and minimum energy consumption. 

EBIT/EBITDA: Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation

(EBITDA) are measures of earnings excluding net income from

equity-accounted investments.

ECM technology: An “Electronically Commutated Motor” is

a motor in which the rotating field is generated electroni-

cally independently of the network frequency.

Energy efficiency class: A measure of the relative efficiency

of energy-saving electrical appliances to support purchase

decisions.

Equity method: Method of accounting for investments in

entities over which the investor has a significant influence.

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recog-

nised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisi-

tion change in the investor’s share of net assets of the

investee. 

Frequency converter: Latest WILO technology. Permits ex-

tremely energy-efficient control of pump speed, particular-

ly in frequently encountered part-load operation. The pumps

adapt their speed intelligently to demand and consume only

as much energy as is actually needed. 

Geothermal energy: The heat stored in the upper part 

of the earth’s crust. This is a renewable energy and can 

be used directly for heating and cooling with heat pump

heating systems. 

Glanded pumps: In this design, the drive motor is separate

from the pumped fluid; the rotating motor component

therefore remains dry. 

Glandless pumps: In this design, the rotating part of the

electric motor is located in the pumped fluid. Glandless

pumps are largely maintenance-free and very quiet in

operation.
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